Non-Abelian symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy

Eugenio Bianchi^{1,2*}, Pietro Dona^{3†} and Rishabh Kumar^{1,2‡}

 Department of Physics, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, Pennsylvania 16802, USA
 Institute for Gravitation and the Cosmos, The Pennsylvania State University, Pennsylvania 16802, USA
 Aix-Marseille Univ, Université de Toulon, CNRS, CPT, Marseille, France

 $\star \ ebianchi@psu.edu \ , \ \ \dagger \ pietro.dona@cpt.univ-mrs.fr \ , \ \ \sharp \ rishabh.kumar@psu.edu \$

Abstract

We introduce a mathematical framework for symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy with a non-Abelian symmetry group. To obtain a reduced density matrix that is blockdiagonal in the non-Abelian charges, we define subsystems operationally in terms of subalgebras of invariant observables. We derive exact formulas for the average and the variance of the typical entanglement entropy for the ensemble of random pure states with fixed non-Abelian charges. We focus on compact, semisimple Lie groups. We show that, compared to the Abelian case, new phenomena arise from the interplay of locality and non-Abelian symmetry, such as the asymmetry of the entanglement entropy under subsystem exchange, which we show in detail by computing the Page curve of a manybody system with SU(2) symmetry.

Copyright E. Bianchi <i>et al</i> .	Received	21-05-2024	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted	21-10-2024	
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published	05-11-2024	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.214	468/SciPostPhys.1	7.5.127

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2
2	Sub	systems from subalgebras and typical entropy	8
	2.1	Hilbert space decomposition adapted to a subalgebra of observables	9
	2.2	Pure states restricted to a subalgebra and entanglement entropy	10
	2.3	Typical entanglement entropy: Average and variance	12
3	Non	-Abelian symmetry-resolved states and entropy	14
	3.1	Symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space	14
	3.2	Symmetry-resolved states and subsystems	17
	3.3	Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy	18
4	Loca	ality, many-body systems and G-local entanglement	19
	4.1	K-local decomposition of the Hilbert space	19
	4.2	G-local decomposition and symmetry-resolution	20
	4.3	U(1) symmetry-resolved entanglement	22

5	SU(2) symmetry-resolved entanglement in a spin system	25					
	5.1 Symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space	25					
	5.2 Symmetry-resolved subsystems: <i>K</i> -local vs <i>G</i> -local observables	27					
	5.3 <i>G</i> -local entanglement entropy of symmetry-resolved states	30					
	5.4 Typical <i>G</i> -local entanglement entropy: Exact formulas	32					
6	Large N asymptotics of the $SU(2)$ typical entropy	33					
	6.1 Fixed spin density	34					
	6.2 Extremal cases: j_{max} and j_{min}	36					
	6.3 Comparison of <i>G</i> -local and <i>K</i> -local asymptotics	37					
7	Discussion	39					
A	Dimension of SU(2) intertwiner spaces						
B	B Laplace approximation and discontinuities						
Re	ferences	45					

1 Introduction

Symmetries play a fundamental role in isolated quantum systems as they result in conservation laws and constraints for physical quantities, including the entanglement entropy. In this paper, we study the interplay between locality, symmetries and entanglement. In particular, we show that the Page curve for the typical entanglement entropy [1,2] captures new phenomena proper of systems with a non-Abelian symmetry group [3].

For Abelian symmetries, such as number conservation or charge conservation, the notion of typical entanglement entropy [4–12] and its relation to symmetry-resolved entanglement [13–15] is well studied. The main ingredients are immediate to define. For instance, consider a system composed of two parts *A* and *B*, which carry a representation of an Abelian group with charge $Q = Q_A + Q_B$. A symmetry-resolved state is an eigenstate of the total charge, $Q|\psi_q\rangle = q |\psi_q\rangle$, and the Hilbert space at fixed total charge *q* decomposes as a direct sum of tensor products

$$\mathcal{H}^{(q)} = \bigoplus_{q_A} \left(\mathcal{H}^{(q_A)}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(q-q_A)}_B \right). \tag{1}$$

The direct sum over subsystem charges q_A is a consequence of the constraint $q = q_A + q_B$ imposed by charge conservation. To evaluate the entanglement entropy $S_A = -\text{tr}_A(\rho_A \log \rho_A)$ of the pure state $|\psi_q\rangle$, we first compute the density matrix ρ_A of the restricted state, which is defined by the partial trace over *B* as usual [16], $\rho_A = \text{tr}_B |\psi_q\rangle \langle \psi_q|$. Note that, as $[|\psi_q\rangle \langle \psi_q|, Q] = 0$, we have that the reduced density matrix commutes with the charge in *A*, i.e., $[\rho_A, Q_A] = 0$, and therefore it takes the block-diagonal form $\rho_A = \bigoplus_{q_A} p^{(q_A)} \rho_A^{(q_A)}$ with each block of definite charge q_A having probability $p^{(q_A)}$. The generalization to a non-Abelian symmetry group is not immediate and requires new tools, which we introduce in this paper.

To illustrate the new aspects that arise in the presence of a non-Abelian symmetry, consider, for instance, a composite system that is invariant under the non-Abelian symmetry group SU(2), with generators $\vec{J} = \vec{J}_A + \vec{J}_B$. How do we define a symmetry-resolved state? Clearly, it cannot be a simultaneous eigenstate of the components J^x , J^y , J^z as these observables do



Figure 1: Energy spectrum of the SU(2)-invariant random Heisenberg Hamiltonian (2) with N = 6. On increasing the parameter μ , the spectrum splits in symmetry-resolved blocks $\mathcal{H}_N^{(j)}$ of fixed spin j, (4), with each block consisting of $(2j+1) \times \dim \mathcal{H}_G^{(j)}$ states as shown in the table. We show also the transitions induced by the local observable $S_1^x S_2^x$ and by the *G*-invariant local observable $\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2$.

not commute. The only simultaneous eigenstates have $\vec{J}^2 = 0$. Even if we were to diagonalize only a set of commuting observables such as \vec{J}^2 and J^z , we still face the issue that the non-Abelian charges are not additive over subsystems as, for instance, $\vec{J}^2 \neq \vec{J}_A^2 + \vec{J}_B^2$. In the Abelian case, the proof that ρ_A is block diagonal uses the additivity of the charges $Q = Q_A + Q_B$. Is ρ_A block diagonal in the non-Abelian case? This question is related to how we define a subsystem. Do we measure only the group-invariant degrees of freedom or also the rotational degrees of freedom? We address these questions in detail, developing a mathematical framework for symmetry-resolved entanglement that applies to a general non-Abelian symmetry group *G*. We introduce the notions of (i) symmetry-resolved states and observables, (ii) locality and symmetry-resolved subsystems, and (iii) symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy and its statistics over random symmetry-resolved states.

As a concrete example of the interplay of locality, non-Abelian symmetry, and entanglement, let us consider a system of N spin-1/2 particles with SU(2) invariant Hamiltonian. Our mathematical analysis only requires the symmetry group G, and the Hamiltonian is used here simply to provide a physical motivation. For instance, we can consider the random Heisenberg Hamiltonian [17, 18]

$$H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{\substack{n,m=1\\n < m}}^{N} c_{nm} \vec{S}_n \cdot \vec{S}_m + \mu \vec{J}^2, \quad \text{with} \quad \vec{J} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \vec{S}_n, \quad (2)$$

where the coupling constants c_{nm} are assumed to be normally distributed with zero average and unit variance, \vec{S}_n are the individual spin operators, and μ is a coupling constant. The system is invariant under global SU(2) rotations generated by \vec{J} ,

$$[H, J^{i}] = 0. (3)$$

This example allows us to illustrate the three notions that play a central role in this paper:

(i) Symmetry-resolved states and observables. Due to the presence of symmetry, the spectrum of the Hamiltonian splits into symmetry-resolved sectors corresponding to the eigenvalues of the conserved charge \vec{J}^2 . Mathematically, the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_N of the system decomposes as a direct sum over sectors of spins j,

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{j} \mathcal{H}_{N}^{(j)} = \bigoplus_{j} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)} \right).$$
(4)

As shown in Fig. 1, each sector $\mathcal{H}_N^{(j)}$ of spin *j* consists of $(2j+1) \times \dim \mathcal{H}_G^{(j)}$ orthogonal states, where the (2j+1)-multiplets describe the rotational degrees of freedom $|j,m\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)}$ of the system. The internal degrees of freedom are rotational invariant states $|j, \chi_G\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_G^{(j)}$. A symmetry-resolved state $|\psi_j\rangle$ is defined as a state of the factorized form,

$$|\psi_{j}\rangle = |j,\xi\rangle |j,\chi_{G}\rangle, \quad \text{with} \quad |j,\xi\rangle = \sum_{m} \xi_{m} |j,m\rangle.$$
 (5)

States of this form have been considered also in [19–21]. We define symmetry-resolved observables O_G , i.e., rotationally invariant observables that commute with the symmetry generators, $[O_G, J^i] = 0$. Note that the symmetry-resolved states defined by (5) are not generic states in the sector of spin *j*, as they have no entanglement between the rotational state $|j, m\rangle$ and the internal state $|j, \chi_G\rangle$. This definition is justified by the notion of symmetry-resolved observables O_G , which cannot entangle rotational and internal degrees of freedom. Moreover, if the state can only be prepared and measured with the observables O_G , then the rotational states $|j,m\rangle$ serve only as an ancilla, and the states of interest are the ones described above. In the following, we denote by \mathcal{A}_K the algebra of observables of the system and by $\mathcal{A}_G \subset \mathcal{A}_K$ the subalgebra of *G*-invariant observables. While \mathcal{A}_K is defined at the kinematical level, the algebra \mathcal{A}_G knows about the symmetries of the dynamics.

To illustrate these definitions, let us suppose a large energy gap exists between the different sectors of spin *j* because the parameter μ in the Hamiltonian is large. Then, the observables O_G can induce only low-energy transitions because they have vanishing matrix elements between different sectors in the energy spectrum. Furthermore, they satisfy the selection rule $\Delta m = 0$ because they are rotationally invariant. States prepared and measured with these accessible observables O_G take the form (5).

(ii) Locality and symmetry-resolved subsystems. A spin system like the one described by the Hamiltonian (2) has a built-in notion of locality associated with the single spins \vec{S}_n that compose the system. These local subsystems come with a notion of tensor product decomposition $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ for spins in the subsystems A and B. The observables O_A that act only on the subsystem A form the subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_{KA} \subset \mathcal{A}_K$ of K-local observables in A: They are kinematically local, but they do not preserve the symmetries of the dynamics. To define symmetry-resolved subsystems that are local in A, we consider observables O_{GA} that are both G-invariant and act only on the degrees of freedom in A. They form the subalgebra of G-local observables in A, given by the intersection:

$$\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \mathcal{A}_{KA} \cap \mathcal{A}_G \,. \tag{6}$$

As an example, the observable $S_1^x S_2^x \in A_{KA}$ and the observable $\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2 \in A_{GA}$ act locally on the first two spins only, but the first induces transitions between multiplets in the energy spectrum while the second does not as it is *G*-invariant.

A subsystem can be defined operationally in terms of a subalgebra of observables we can access. Here, we are interested in *G*-local observables in *A*. The restriction of a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi_j\rangle$ to the subalgebra \mathcal{A}_{GA} is given by the density matrix ρ_{GA} . As *G*-local observables in *A* commute with the generator of rotations in *A*, we have that $[\rho_{GA}, J_A^i] = 0$ and

therefore the reduced density matrix takes the block-diagonal form

$$\rho_{GA} = \bigoplus_{j_A} p^{(j_A)} \rho^{(j_A)}_{GA}.$$
(7)

Note that the choice of a *G*-local subalgebra is crucial here as it is associated with a decomposition of the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_N^{(j)}$ as a direct sum over j_A ,

$$\mathcal{H}_{N}^{(j)} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j)} \otimes \bigoplus_{j_{A}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(j_{A})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,j_{A})} \right).$$
(8)

Note also that this structure differs from the one found in the Abelian case: the Hilbert space of rotational degrees of freedom $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)}$ is non-trivial in the non-Abelian case, and the complement $\mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,j_A)}$ is not labeled by a difference of the charges j and j_A as in $\mathcal{H}_B^{(q-q_A)}$ in Eq. (1). Furthermore, if instead we had considered the usual reduced density matrix $\rho_{KA} = \text{tr}_B |\psi_j\rangle \langle \psi_j|$, a different structure would arise. The kinematical density matrix ρ_{KA} is defined as a trace over the kinematical degrees of freedom in B and represents the restriction of the state to the subalgebra of K-local observables \mathcal{A}_{KA} . We note that in the non-Abelian case the K-local reduced density matrix ρ_{KA} is not of a block-diagonal form, as $\vec{J}^2 \neq \vec{J}_A^2 + \vec{J}_B^2$ and K-local observables induce transitions between sectors with different spins j_A in the subsystem A. In Fig. 2, we also show that considering instead a microcanonical truncation of local observables [22] by introducing projectors $P^{(j)}$, we can forbid transitions between sectors at the expense of locality. The operational definition of a subsystem in terms of the subalgebra of G-local observables guarantees that the subsystem is both local and G-invariant.



Figure 2: Matrix elements of the *K*-local observable $S_1^x S_2^x$ (1a)-(2a), of its SU(2)projected version $\sum_j P_j S_1^x S_2^x P_j$ (1b)-(2b), and of the *G*-local observable $\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2$ (1c)-(2c). Block-diagonal matrix elements in the spin-lattice basis (1a) highlight the local or non-local nature of the observable, while the off-diagonal matrix elements in the energy basis (2a) determine the possible transitions between energy levels. While the SU(2)-projected observable allows only SU(2)-invariant transitions $(\in \mathcal{A}_G)$ (2b), it is not a local observable $(\notin \mathcal{A}_{KA})$ (1b). Hence, the SU(2)-projected observable is not *G*-local, (6). On the other hand, the observable $\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2 \in \mathcal{A}_{GA}$ is both local (1c) and induces only SU(2)-invariant transitions (2c).

(iii) Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy and typicality. If we have access only to symmetry-resolved observables in the subsystem *A*, i.e., to the subalgebra \mathcal{A}_{GA} , then the accessible entanglement entropy is defined by the restriction of the state to this subalgebra. For a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi_j\rangle$, the accessible entropy is the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy S_{GA} defined as the von Neumann entropy of the density matrix ρ_{GA} , which in turn can be expressed as the sum of two terms:

$$S_{GA}(|\psi_{j}\rangle) = -\mathrm{tr}(\rho_{GA}\log\rho_{GA}) = -\sum_{j_{A}} p^{(j_{A})} \mathrm{tr}(\rho_{GA}^{(j_{A})}\log\rho_{GA}^{(j_{A})}) - \sum_{j_{A}} p^{(j_{A})}\log p^{(j_{A})}.$$
(9)

The symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy $S_{GA}(|\psi_j\rangle)$ can be understood as the sum of two terms, $S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})}$ and $S_{GA}^{(\text{num})}$. One first defines the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy at fixed system and subsystem charges $S_{GA}^{(j_A)}$ as the von Neumann entropy of the density matrix $\rho_{GA}^{(j_A)}$ in each sector j_A . Then the configurational entropy $S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})}$ is given by its average over the probability $p^{(j_A)}$ of finding the state in the sector j_A , and the number entropy $S_{GA}^{(\text{num})}$ is the Shannon entropy of the probability $p^{(j_A)}$. The table below summarizes the definitions commonly used in the literature:

Total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy	$S_{GA}(\psi_{j} angle)$	
Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy at fixed system & subsystem charges	$S_{GA}^{(j_A)} = -\mathrm{tr}\left(\rho_{GA}^{(j_A)}\log\rho_{GA}^{(j_A)}\right)$	(10)
Configurational entropy	$S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} = \sum_{j_A} p^{(j_A)} S_{GA}^{(j_A)}$	
Number entropy (Shannon)	$S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} = -\sum_{j_A} p^{(j_A)} \log p^{(j_A)}$	

Now, given a random state $|\psi_j\rangle$ that is symmetry resolved, we can ask what is the probability of finding entanglement entropy S_{GA} . It turns out that the exact formulas for the average $\langle S_{GA} \rangle$ and the variance $(\Delta S_{GA})^2$ derived for a general subalgebra of observables in [2] apply here unmodified, once one uses the dimensions of the Hilbert spaces appearing in the decomposition (8). For a system composed of $N \gg 1$ spins, there is a typical value $\langle S_{GA} \rangle$ of the entropy that characterizes completely the Page curve of subsystems [1, 2] as the variance of the probability distribution $P(S_{GA})$ is exponentially small in N.

It is important to note that the G-invariant notion of entanglement entropy S_{GA} introduced here is distinct from the usual notion of kinematical entanglement entropy $S_{KA} = -\text{tr}(\rho_{KA}\log\rho_{KA})$ which probes also the rotational degrees of freedom $|j,m\rangle$ that are not G-invariant. In Fig. 3, we illustrate the difference with an example. We consider the case of N = 6 spin-1/2 particles in a random state with j = 1 and m = +1, and a subsystem consisting of $N_A = 3$ spins. For the same sample of random states, we report the histograms for the probability distributions $P(S_{GA})$ and $P(S_{KA})$, which are shown to be distinct, Fig. 3(a). The statistical average μ_{GA} and variance σ_{GA}^2 match numerically the exact formulas $\langle S_{GA} \rangle$ and $(\Delta S_{GA})^2$ that we derive in this paper for the G-local entanglement entropy. The K-local entanglement entropy with SU(2) symmetry is studied in [21] where asymptotic formulas at large N are derived for $\langle S_{KA} \rangle$ and $(\Delta S_{KA})^2$ using a combination of analytical and numerical methods. To date, there is no analytical result for the average K-local entanglement entropy $\langle S_{KA} \rangle$ at finite N. We note that, because of the contribution of the rotational degrees of freedom $|j, m\rangle$, we have that typically, the kinematical entanglement entropy S_{KA} is larger than the symmetryresolved entanglement entropy S_{GA} of a random state. However, the relation between the two is non-trivial as shown in Fig. 3(b) where we consider a specific (non-random) family of states for which S_{GA} is instead larger than S_{KA} . We consider the two orthogonal states $|\psi_1\rangle$ and $|\psi_2\rangle$



Figure 3: For a system of N = 6 spins with total spin j = 1, magnetization m = +1 and subsystem size $N_A = 3$, we show: (*a*) the probability distribution of the *G*-local (purple) and the *K*-local (yellow) entanglement entropies S_{GA} and S_{KA} of a sample of random symmetry-resolved states, including a comparison of the numerical values (μ_{GA}, σ_{GA}) and the exact values ($\langle S_{GA} \rangle, \Delta S_{GA}$) of the average and variance of $P(S_{GA})$; (*b*) the entanglement entropy of a superposition of the two states (11), which highlights the non-trivial relation between S_{GA} and S_{KA} ; at p = 0: $S_{GA} = S_{KA} = 0$, at $p = \frac{1}{2}$: $S_{GA} > S_{KA}$, and at p = 1: $S_{KA} > S_{GA} = 0$.

with j = 1, m = +1 obtained from the coupling of the angular momentum of six spin-1/2 particles as described by the diagrams below [23]:

$$|\psi_{1}\rangle = \underbrace{\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1/2 \\ m_{1} & m_{2} \\ m_{2} & m_{3} \\ m_{4} & m_{5} \\ m_{4} & m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} & m_{2} \\ m_{1} & m_{2} \\ m_{1} & m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{4} \\ m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{4} \\ m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{4} \\ m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{4} \\ m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{4} \\ m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{4} \\ m_{5} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{6} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{3} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{2} \\ m_{1} \\ m_{1$$

These two states are simultaneous eigenstates of the observables $(\vec{S}_1 + \vec{S}_2)^2$ and $(\vec{S}_1 + \vec{S}_2 + \vec{S}_3)^2$. As a result, when restricted to *G*-invariant observables of the first three spins, they have vanishing *G*-local entropy $S_{GA}(|\psi_1\rangle) = 0$ and $S_{GA}(|\psi_2\rangle) = 0$. On the other hand, because of the entanglement in the rotational degrees of freedom, we have that the *K*-local entropies are $S_{KA}(|\psi_1\rangle) = 0$ and non-vanishing $S_{KA}(|\psi_2\rangle) \neq 0$. Moreover, in the superposition $(|\psi_1\rangle + |\psi_2\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$ we have that S_{GA} is larger than S_{KA} , which shows that the relation between the two is non-trivial.

The three ingredients (i)–(ii)–(iii) outlined above are related to a substantial body of literature. The notion of Page curve for random states without constraints was first introduced in [1] motivated by the information puzzle in black hole evaporation [24–26]. In the case of Abelian constraints such as number conservation [2], the notions of K-local and G-local subsystems coincide, and the Page curve with Abelian constraints is studied in [4-12]. In the case of non-Abelian symmetry SU(2), the Page curve of K-local subsystems is studied in [21,27]. The operational notion of entanglement entropy associated with a subalgebra of observables is discussed in [28-31]. In particular, the geometric entanglement entropy in quantum field theory [32–34] is best understood in terms of local subalgebras of observables [35–39]. The notion of G-local subalgebras of observables invariant under a group of non-Abelian transformations appears in lattice gauge theory [40–43] and in loop quantum gravity [44–46]. The accessible entanglement entropy in the presence of symmetries and superselections rules is discussed in [47-53]. The notion of symmetry-resolved entanglement was introduced in [13-15]and studied for Abelian symmetry in [54–70] and [71–83], (see [84] for a review). To date, the study of symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy for non-Abelian groups has remained restricted to vacuum states that are assumed to be invariant under the action of the group, such as

the j = 0 sector in the decomposition (8) for the group SU(2) [14,85–87], or the $|0,0\rangle$ vacuum that is invariant under Virasoro symmetry in a conformal field theory [88]. On the other hand, the case of excited states with symmetry group SU(2) has been studied recently in [19–21] where non-commuting conserved charges are shown to lead to new phenomena [27,89–91] in the context of eigenstate thermalization [92–94] and quantum many-body scars [95,96].

The paper is organized as follows: In Sec. 2 we describe how to define a subsystem operationally in terms of a subalgebra of observables, and we determine the main expression for the typical entanglement entropy in complete generality. Then, in Sec. 3, we introduce a non-Abelian symmetry group, and we derive the decomposition (7)-(8) for general group *G*, without any requirement of locality. In Sec. 4, we discuss locality and introduce the notion of *G*-local observables in many-body systems using the definition (6). The application to manybody spin systems with SU(2) symmetry is discussed in Sec. 5, where we derive the exact formulas used in Fig. 3 (see also App. A). In Sec. 6, we derive the large system asymptotics of the SU(2) symmetry-resolved typical entropy (see also App. B). To conclude, in Sec. 7, we summarize our results and illustrate applications.

2 Subsystems from subalgebras and typical entropy

We consider an isolated quantum system with Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of finite dimension $D = \dim \mathcal{H} < \infty$. Pure states of the system, $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$, can be understood as vectors in \mathbb{C}^D and observables O as $D \times D$ hermitian matrices. The algebra of observables of the system,

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \simeq M_D(\mathbb{C}), \tag{12}$$

is the set $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ of linear operators on \mathcal{H} or equivalently the algebra $M_D(\mathbb{C})$ of matrices on \mathbb{C}^D .

In general, a von Neumann algebra on \mathbb{C}^D is an algebra of matrices that is closed under (i) hermitian conjugation, (ii) addition, (iii) multiplication, and (iv) contains all \mathbb{C} multiples of the identity operator. In particular, the algebra \mathcal{A} of observables of the system is a von Neumann algebra [29, 97].¹ Here we are interested in von Neumann subalgebras of \mathcal{A} . We say that a subalgebra is generated by the set of hermitian matrices K_i (with i = 1, ..., n) if it can be obtained by their closure under (i)–(iv), which we denote by

$$\mathbb{C}[K_i] \equiv \left\{ M \in M_D(\mathbb{C}) \, | \, M = a \, \mathbb{1} + \sum_i b_i K_i + \sum_{ij} c_{ij} K_i K_j + \dots \right\},\tag{13}$$

with coefficients $a, b_i, c_{ij} \dots$ in \mathbb{C} . The notion of commutant will play a central role. The commutant of a set of matrices is defined as

$$\{K_1, \dots, K_n\}' \equiv \{M \in M_D(\mathbb{C}) \mid MK_i - K_i M = 0, i = 1, \dots, n\}.$$
 (14)

There are two useful results that we will use multiple times: the first relates the the double commutant of a set of matrices to the algebra they generate, $\{K_1, \ldots, K_n\}'' = \mathbb{C}[K_1, \ldots, K_n]$; the second result relates the intersection of commutants to the union of the sets of generators:

$$\mathbb{C}[K_i]' \cap \mathbb{C}[H_j]' = \mathbb{C}[K_i, H_j]'.$$
(15)

Note that the commutant of a von Neumann algebra $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} \subset \mathcal{A}$ is also a von Neumann algebra $(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}})' \subset \mathcal{A}$, and the double commutant coincides with the algebra itself, $(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}})'' = \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}$.

¹While observables of the system are represented by hermitian matrices, linear combinations are assumed to be over \mathbb{C} and therefore the von Neumann algebra of observables contains also anti-hermitian matrices and, more importantly, unitary transformations. We note also that here we have assumed that the Hilbert space of the system is finite-dimensional, and therefore in the definition of a von Neumann algebra reduces to the one of a matrix algebra [97], with no additional requirement about topological closure. For a discussion of the infinite-dimensional case and the classification of von Neumann algebras of observables in quantum field theory, we refer to [35–37,98].

2.1 Hilbert space decomposition adapted to a subalgebra of observables

Given our physical system, we define a *subsystem* S operationally, in terms of a set of observables $\{O_1, O_2, \ldots\}$ that we have access to or that we can probe with measuring devices available to us. These observables generate a von Neumann algebra A_S on H,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} = \mathbb{C}\big[O_1, O_2, \dots\big],\tag{16}$$

that is a subalgebra of the algebra of observables \mathcal{A} of the system, $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. The two notions of commutant and center allow us to decompose the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} in sectors adapted to the subalgebra of observables $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}$.²

We start with the notion of commutant. We denote by \overline{S} the *complement* of the subsystem S and define it in terms of the subalgebra of observables that commute with A_S , i.e., the commutant of A_S in A,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\overline{S}} = (\mathcal{A}_{S})' \equiv \{ M \in \mathcal{A} \mid [M, N] = 0, \forall N \in \mathcal{A}_{S} \}.$$
(17)

Next, we consider the *center* Z_S of the subalgebra. Note that in general there are observables R_1, R_2, \ldots that can be measured both from S and from \overline{S} , i.e. the subalgebra A_S can have a non-trivial center Z_S ,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{S}} = \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}} = \mathbb{C}[R_1, R_2, \dots].$$
(18)

These structures allow us to decompose the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} as a direct sum of tensor products. The construction can be understood concretely in terms of an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} adapted to the subsystem \mathcal{S} . We first consider the observables R_1, R_2, \ldots in the center $\mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{S}}$. By definition, the center $\mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{S}}$ is an Abelian algebra and, therefore, we can diagonalize these observables simultaneously. We denote by r the eigenvalues of the observables in the center $\mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{S}}$. Then, we can select a maximal commuting set of observables in $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}$ with simultaneous eigenvalues β . As a result, we obtain an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} ,

$$|r, \alpha, \beta\rangle = |r, \alpha\rangle |r, \beta\rangle, \qquad (19)$$

that is adapted to the subalgebra \mathcal{A}_{S} . This basis gives a concrete meaning to the direct sum decomposition

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{r} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}}^{(r)} \right), \tag{20}$$

where $|r, \alpha\rangle$ is an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}_{S}^{(r)}$, and $|r, \beta\rangle$ an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{S}}^{(r)}$. Note that when the center is trivial, i.e., $\mathcal{Z}_{S} = \{1\}$, this decomposition reduces to the familiar tensor product structure $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}$ of a composite system.

We call d_r and b_r the *dimensions* of the sectors appearing in the direct-sum decomposition associated with a subalgebra A_S ,

$$d_r = \dim \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}, \qquad b_r = \dim \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}}^{(r)}, \qquad D = \dim \mathcal{H} = \sum_r d_r b_r.$$
 (21)

These dimensions play a central role in the expression of the typical entropy of a subsystem.

²We refer to Ch. 11.8 in [29] for a pedagogical introduction, to [41-43] for applications to lattice systems, to [99] for applications to information transport, and to [100, 101] for applications to Hilbert space fragmentation.

2.2 Pure states restricted to a subalgebra and entanglement entropy

Using the decomposition (20), observables of the subsystem S take the direct-sum form

$$O \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} \subseteq \mathcal{A} \implies O = \bigoplus_{r} \left(O_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} \right).$$
(22)

It is useful to introduce a notion of Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{S} of the subsystem, defined as the direct sum of the subsystem sectors:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}} \equiv \bigoplus_{r} \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}.$$
(23)

The restriction of an operator $O \in \mathcal{A}_S$ to the Hilbert space of the subsystem is given by

$$O \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} \subseteq \mathcal{A} \implies O_{\mathcal{S}} \equiv \bigoplus_{r} O_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}).$$
 (24)

We can write this map from O to O_S concretely as

$$Tr(\cdot\Pi_{S}): \quad \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{S}),$$

$$O \quad \longmapsto O_{S} = Tr(O\Pi_{S}),$$
(25)

where Tr is the trace over \mathcal{H} and Tr_S is the trace over \mathcal{H}_S .³ In the adapted basis $|r, \alpha, \beta\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ and $|r, \alpha\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_S$, the map Π_S takes the form

$$\Pi_{\mathcal{S}} = \sum_{r} \sum_{\alpha \alpha'} \left(\sum_{\beta} |r, \alpha, \beta\rangle \langle r, \alpha', \beta| \right) \otimes |r, \alpha'\rangle \langle r, \alpha|.$$
(26)

With these definitions, we can now write the restriction of a pure state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ to the subsystem S as a density matrix ρ_S ,

$$\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| \implies \rho_{\mathcal{S}} = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \Pi_{\mathcal{S}}), \tag{27}$$

so that the expectation value of an observable on the subsystem S is given by

$$0 \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}} \subseteq \mathcal{A} \implies \langle \psi | 0 | \psi \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}} (O_{\mathcal{S}} \rho_{\mathcal{S}}).$$
(28)

We note that the map $\rho \mapsto \rho_{S}$ is completely positive and trace preserving (CPTP) [16], as can be seen by writing it in the operator sum form $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho \Pi_{S}) = \sum_{r\beta} Y_{r\beta}^{\dagger} \rho Y_{r\beta}$ with Kraus operators $Y_{r\beta} = \sum_{\alpha} |r, \alpha, \beta\rangle \langle r, \alpha|$.

We are now ready to define the entanglement entropy *S* of the pure state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ restricted to a subalgebra of observables $\mathcal{A}_S \subseteq \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$: the entropy of the triple $(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_S)$ equals the von Neumann entropy $S_{vN}(\rho_S)$ of the restricted state, i.e.,

$$S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}) = -\mathrm{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}(\rho_{\mathcal{S}} \log \rho_{\mathcal{S}}), \quad \text{with} \quad \rho_{\mathcal{S}} = \langle \psi | \Pi_{\mathcal{S}} | \psi \rangle.$$
(29)

 $^3 \text{Traces}$ over the Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H},\,\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}$ are defined as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\cdot) = \sum_{r \alpha \beta} \langle r, \alpha, \beta | \cdot | r, \alpha, \beta \rangle, \qquad \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}(\cdot) = \sum_{r} \sum_{\alpha} \langle r, \alpha | \cdot | r, \alpha \rangle, \qquad \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}(\cdot) = \sum_{\alpha} \langle r, \alpha | \cdot | r, \alpha \rangle.$$

Similarly, one can define traces for $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{S}}^{(r)}$ and for $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{S}} = \bigoplus_r \mathcal{H}_{\overline{S}}^{(r)}$ in term of the basis $|r, \beta\rangle$.

It is useful to express the entanglement entropy in the basis (19) adapted to a subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}$. We introduce first the projector $P^{(r)} = \sum_{\alpha\beta} |r, \alpha, \beta\rangle \langle r, \alpha, \beta|$ to the sector r of the Hilbert space decomposition. Using this projector, we can define the probability p_r that the pure state is found to be in the sector r, together with the (normalized) projected state $|\psi^{(r)}\rangle$:

$$p_r = \langle \psi | P^{(r)} | \psi \rangle = \sum_{\alpha \beta} \left| \langle r, \alpha, \beta | \psi \rangle \right|^2,$$
(30)

$$|\psi^{(r)}\rangle = \frac{P^{(r)}|\psi\rangle}{\sqrt{\langle\psi|P^{(r)}|\psi\rangle}} = \sum_{\alpha\beta} \psi^{(r)}_{\alpha\beta}|r,\alpha\rangle|r,\beta\rangle.$$
(31)

Any pure state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ can then be expressed in the basis adapted to the subalgebra of observables $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}$ as

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{r} \sqrt{p_{r}} \sum_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}^{(r)} |r,\alpha\rangle |r,\beta\rangle.$$
(32)

The definition (27) of reduced density matrix takes then the direct sum form

$$\rho_{\mathcal{S}} = \bigoplus_{r} p_{r} \rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}, \tag{33}$$

with $\rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}$ simply defined as the partial trace over $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}}^{(r)},$ i.e.,

$$\rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\bar{\mathcal{S}}}^{(r)} \left(|\psi^{(r)}\rangle \langle \psi^{(r)}| \right) = \sum_{\alpha \alpha'} \left(\sum_{\beta} \psi_{\alpha'\beta}^{(r)} \psi_{\alpha\beta}^{(r)*} \right) |r, \alpha'\rangle \langle r, \alpha|.$$
(34)

Using the decomposition (33) and expanding $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}(\rho_{\mathcal{S}} \log \rho_{\mathcal{S}}) = \sum_{r} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}(p_{r} \rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} \log(p_{r} \rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}))$, we can write the entanglement entropy as the sum of two terms,

$$S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}) = -\sum_{r} p_{r} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)} \log \rho_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}) - \sum_{r} p_{r} \log p_{r}, \qquad (35)$$

where the first term is the average over sectors of the entanglement entropy in each sector, and the second piece is the Shannon entropy of the distribution over sectors.

We summarize some useful properties of the entanglement entropy of a subsystem defined in terms of a subalgebra:

Minimum — The entanglement entropy is non-negative and vanishes if and only if the restriction of the state to the subalgebra is pure. For this to happen, the state has to belong to a definite sector r and have a product form, i.e.,

$$S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{S}}) = 0 \implies \exists r : |\psi\rangle = |r, \xi\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |r, \chi\rangle_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}}, \tag{36}$$

with $|r, \xi\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} = \sum_{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha} |r, \alpha\rangle$ and $|r, \chi\rangle_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}} = \sum_{\beta} \chi_{\beta} |r, \beta\rangle$. As a special case, if we don't restrict the state to any subalgebra, then the entanglement entropy of a pure state vanishes, $S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}) = 0$.

Maximum — We can determine the maximum entanglement entropy by varying the Lagrangian $L = -\sum_r p_r \sum_i (\lambda_{ri} \log \lambda_{ri}) - \sum_r p_r \log p_r + \mu_0 (1 - \sum_r p_r) + \sum_r \mu_r (1 - \sum_i \lambda_{ri})$, with probabilities p_r and λ_{ri} , and Lagrange multipliers μ_0 and μ_r . At the stationary point, we obtain the maximum entropy

$$S_{\max} = \log\left(\sum_{r} \min(d_r, b_r)\right). \tag{37}$$

The maximally-entangled state can be written as

$$|I\rangle = \sum_{r} \sqrt{\frac{\min(d_r, b_r)}{\sum_{r'} \min(d_{r'}, b_{r'})}} \sum_{i=1}^{\min(d_r, b_r)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\min(d_r, b_r)}} |r, i\rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |r, i\rangle_{\overline{\mathcal{S}}}.$$
 (38)

Commutant symmetry — Note that the entanglement entropy of a subsystem is symmetric under the exchange of the subsystem with its commutant, i.e.,

$$S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{\overline{S}}) = S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{S}).$$
(39)

This notion of commutant symmetry generalizes the familiar subsystem symmetry $S_A = S_B$ of the entanglement entropy of pure states in a tensor product $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$.

2.3 Typical entanglement entropy: Average and variance

Consider the ensemble of random pure states $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$. Given a function of the state, $f(|\psi\rangle)$, we can define the average over the ensemble as

$$\langle f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \int_{\mathcal{H}} d\mu(\psi) f(|\psi\rangle) = \int dU f(U|\psi_0\rangle),$$
 (40)

where $d\mu(\psi)$ is the uniform measure over the unit sphere in \mathbb{C}^D or, equivalently, dU is the Haar measure over the unitary group U(D) that allows us to write a random state $|\psi\rangle = U|\psi_0\rangle$ in terms of a reference state $|\psi_0\rangle$ and a random unitary U. The function f can be a linear function of $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$, such as the expectation value of a subsystem observable in \mathcal{A}_S , or a non-linear function as the entanglement entropy $S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_S)$ of the state restricted to a subalgebra of observables. We note that the result of this average can be expressed purely in terms of the dimensions (21) of the sectors of the Hilbert space decomposition (20). For instance, the average density matrix of a pure state and of its restriction to a subsystem S is

$$\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| \implies \langle\rho\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \frac{1}{D}\mathbb{1}, \qquad \langle\rho_{\mathcal{S}}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}\left(\langle\rho\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}\Pi_{\mathcal{S}}\right) = \bigoplus_{r} \frac{d_{r}b_{r}}{D} \frac{1}{d_{r}}\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{S}}^{(r)}, \quad (41)$$

which results in the von Neumann entropy of the average state

$$S_{\rm vN}(\langle \rho_{\mathcal{S}} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}) = -\mathrm{Tr}_{\mathcal{S}}(\langle \rho_{\mathcal{S}} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \log \langle \rho_{\mathcal{S}} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}) = \sum_{r} \frac{d_r \, b_r}{D} \log\left(\frac{D}{b_r}\right). \tag{42}$$

While in general, the average $\langle f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ alone does not characterize the typical value of a function $f(|\psi\rangle)$ for a random state, computing its moments $\langle f^n \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ allows us to characterize the probability distribution. We are interested in the probability P(S) dS that a random pure state $|\psi\rangle$ has entropy *S* when restricted to the subalgebra \mathcal{A}_S . When the dispersion around the average is small, $\Delta S \ll \langle S \rangle$, we can simply use the average entropy $\langle S \rangle$ to characterize the entropy. In this case, we say that the *typical entanglement entropy* of a random pure state is $\langle S \rangle$.

In [2], the exact formulas for the average entanglement entropy $\langle S \rangle$ and its variance $(\Delta S)^2$ for a pure random state restricted to a subalgebra of observables corresponding to the Hilbert space decomposition (20) were found to be:

$$\langle S \rangle \equiv \langle S (|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{S}) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \sum_{r} \varrho_{r} \varphi_{r}, \qquad (43)$$

$$(\Delta S)^2 \equiv \langle S^2 \rangle - \langle S \rangle^2 = \frac{1}{D+1} \Big(\sum_r \varrho_r \big(\varphi_r^2 + \chi_r \big) - \big(\sum_r \varrho_r \varphi_r \big)^2 \Big), \tag{44}$$

with the quantities ρ_r , φ_r , χ_r expressed in terms of the dimensions d_r , b_r , D (21) given by

$$\varrho_r = \frac{d_r \, b_r}{D},\tag{45}$$

$$\varphi_r = \begin{cases} \Psi(D+1) - \Psi(b_r+1) - \frac{d_r-1}{2b_r}, & d_r \le b_r, \\ b_r \longleftrightarrow d_r, & d_r > b_r, \end{cases}$$
(46)

$$\chi_{r} = \begin{cases} (d_{r} + b_{r})\Psi'(b_{r} + 1) - (D + 1)\Psi'(D + 1) - \frac{(d_{r} - 1)(d_{r} + 2b_{r} - 1)}{4b_{r}^{2}}, & d_{r} \leq b_{r}, \\ b_{r} \longleftrightarrow d_{r}, & d_{r} > b_{r}, \end{cases}$$
(47)

where $\Gamma(x)$ is the gamma function, $\Psi(x) = \Gamma'(x)/\Gamma(x)$ is the digamma function and $\Psi'(x)$ its derivative. This formula in terms of the dimensions (21) generalizes a seminal result of Page [1] that applies to the special case of an a priori factorization of the Hilbert space into subsystems.

It is useful to determine bounds on the average entropy and its variance that do not rely on any special choice of system and subsystem or on any asymptotic limit. We use the following inequalities for the digamma function and its derivative:

$$\log(x) + \frac{1}{2x+1} < \Psi(x+1) < \log(x) + \frac{1}{2x},$$
(48)

$$\frac{1}{x} - \frac{1}{2x^2 + 1} < \Psi'(x+1) < \frac{1}{x} - \frac{1}{2x^2}.$$
(49)

We start with the average $\langle S \rangle$. For any choice of non-trivial subsystem and for all r we have $b_r < D = \sum_{r'} d_{r'} b_{r'}$. Using (48) we can then put a tight bound on φ_r :

$$\log\min\left(\frac{D}{b_r}, \frac{D}{d_r}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\min\left(\frac{d_r}{b_r}, \frac{b_r}{d_r}\right) \le \varphi_r \le \log\min\left(\frac{D}{b_r}, \frac{D}{d_r}\right).$$
(50)

It follows that the average entropy is bounded from above and from below by

$$\sum_{r} \frac{d_r b_r}{D} \Big(\log \min\left(\frac{D}{b_r}, \frac{D}{d_r}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \min\left(\frac{d_r}{b_r}, \frac{b_r}{d_r}\right) \Big) \le \langle S \rangle \le \sum_{r} \frac{d_r b_r}{D} \log \min\left(\frac{D}{b_r}, \frac{D}{d_r}\right).$$
(51)

We note that, as $\min\left(\frac{d_r}{b_r}, \frac{b_r}{d_r}\right) \le 1$, we have also the exact inequality

$$\left| \langle S \rangle - \sum_{r} \frac{d_{r} b_{r}}{D} \log \min\left(\frac{D}{b_{r}}, \frac{D}{d_{r}}\right) \right| \leq \frac{1}{2},$$
(52)

which is useful for extracting the asymptotics of the average entropy in the limit of large dimension *D*, up to terms of order one. We note also that, because of the min, the upper bound is tighter than the entropy of the average (42), consistently with the inequality $\langle S_{\rm vN}(\rho_S) \rangle \leq S_{\rm vN}(\langle \rho_S \rangle)$. Clearly, the average entropy is also smaller than the maximum entropy (37).⁴

We consider then the variance $(\Delta S)^2$. Here we use two (rather loose, but useful) inequalities for the functions φ_r and χ_r ,

$$0 \le \varphi_r \le \log D, \qquad 0 \le \chi_r \le 2. \tag{53}$$

⁴In fact $\sum_{r} \frac{d_r b_r}{D} \log \min(\frac{D}{b_r}, \frac{D}{d_r}) \le \log(\sum_{r} \min(d_r, b_r))$ because log is concave and $\langle \log \cdot \rangle \le \log \langle \cdot \rangle$.

It is immediate then to show that the variance of the entanglement entropy is bounded from above by a decreasing function of the dimension *D*,

$$(\Delta S)^2 \le \frac{(\log D)^2 + 2}{D}.$$
(54)

This bound shows that, independently of the details of the system and of the subsystem, the variance of the entropy vanishes in the large dimension of the Hilbert space limit, i.e., $\Delta S \rightarrow 0$ as $D \rightarrow \infty$. Therefore, if the average $\langle S \rangle$ is finite and non-vanishing in this limit, then its value represents the typical entanglement entropy of a random pure state restricted to the subsystem.

3 Non-Abelian symmetry-resolved states and entropy

We consider a physical system with a symmetry group *G* that leaves the Hamiltonian of the system invariant. Then the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of the system carries a (reducible) representation *U* of the group that is unitary, and *G*-invariant observables *O* of the system—including the Hamiltonian—satisfy

$$g \in G \implies U(g) O U(g)^{-1} = O.$$
(55)

Symmetry-resolved states of the system are defined as pure states $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ that remain pure when restricted to the subalgebra of *G*-invariant observables. In this section, we discuss the definition of symmetry-resolved states and the computation of their typical entropy for symmetry-resolved subsystems. Compared to the Abelian case, we show that new features arise for non-Abelian symmetry groups. For concreteness, we focus on semisimple Lie groups such as G = SU(2), i.e., continuous groups that do not have any Abelian invariant subgroup [3, 102, 103]. We then proceed to comment on the general case.

3.1 Symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space

A compact Lie group *G* is defined by the Lie algebra of its generators T^a with real structure constants $f^{ab}_{\ c}$,

$$[T^a, T^b] = \mathrm{i} f^{ab}_{\ c} T^c \,. \tag{56}$$

We say that the finite-dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H} carries a unitary representation of the group G if the generators T^a are realized as $D \times D$ Hermitian matrices that satisfy the commutation relations (56), with $D = \dim \mathcal{H}$. A group element with real parameters α_a acts on the Hilbert space as the unitary transformation U given by

$$U = e^{i \alpha_a T^a}.$$
 (57)

This representation of the group is, in general, reducible. It is useful to introduce the Cartan-Killing metric $\eta^{ab} = \text{tr}(\tau^a \tau^b)$ where τ^a are the generators in the adjoint representation, $[\tau^a]_c^b = -\text{i} f^{ab}_c$. Here we restrict attention to the case of real compact semisimple Lie groups, for which the metric η^{ab} is positive definite.⁵ We use this metric and its inverse η_{ab} , with $\eta^{ac} \eta_{cb} = \delta^a_b$, to raise and lower indices.

The symmetry generators T^a generate a subalgebra A_{sym} of the algebra of observables $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ of the system,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm sym} = \mathbb{C}[T^a]. \tag{58}$$

⁵Note that in this case, by rescaling the generators, the metric η^{ab} can be brought to the Euclidean form δ^{ab} . Here, we use the standard tensorial notation, where we keep track of upper and lower indices, and repeated indices are contracted. As usual, the symbols ^(...) and ^[...] stand for complete symmetrization or anti-symmetrization of the tensor.

The commutant of this subalgebra defines the algebra of *G*-invariant observables,

$$\mathcal{A}_G \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}})' = \{ M \in \mathcal{A} \mid [M, T^a] = 0 \}.$$
(59)

Observables in A_G commute with the generators T^a and therefore satisfy the *G*-invariance condition (55).

The rank of a semisimple Lie group *G* is the dimension rank(*G*) of any one of the Cartan subalgebras of its Lie algebra. The number of linearly independent Casimir operators Q_k is exactly given by rank(*G*) [104, 105]. The Casimir operators are obtained by listing all the completely-symmetric *G*-invariant tensors $\eta_{a_1 \cdots a_p}$ of order *p*, and then contracting them with the generators:

$$Q_{k} = \eta_{a_{1}\cdots a_{p(k)}} T^{a_{1}}\cdots T^{a_{p(k)}}, \qquad k = 1, \dots, \operatorname{rank}(G).$$
(60)

These operators generalize the familiar quadratic Casimir operator $Q_1 = \eta_{ab} T^a T^b$ defined in terms of the Cartan-Killing metric. They belong to the *G*-invariant subalgebra \mathcal{A}_G as they are invariants, and they belong to the algebra \mathcal{A}_{sym} as they are expressed in terms of the generators. Therefore, they belong to the center \mathcal{Z}_{sym} of the algebra. In fact, for semisimple Lie groups (that is, Lie groups that have no Abelian subgroup), a much stronger result holds [104, 105]: these *R* linearly independent Casimir operators generate the center,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{sym}} = \mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}} \cap \mathcal{A}_G = \mathbb{C}[Q_k],\tag{61}$$

and characterize completely the irreducible representations of the group.

Using the results of Sec. 2.1, and denoting collectively q the eigenvalues of the Casimir operators, we obtain a symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space:

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{q} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(q)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(q)} \right), \tag{62}$$

where $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(q)}$ carries the irreducible representation (q) of the symmetry generators, and $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(q)}$ is the space of *G*-invariant degrees of freedom of the system defined as

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(q)} = \operatorname{Inv}_{G}(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(\bar{q})} \otimes \mathcal{H}), \tag{63}$$

where Inv_G denotes the *G*-invariant subspace in the tensor product and (\bar{q}) is the conjugate representation [102, 103].

The symmetry-resolved decomposition (62) is a decomposition of the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} into a direct sum of irreducible representations labeled by the quantum numbers q that label the eigenvalues of the Casimir operators. Furthermore, each irreducible representation is a tensor product of the sym factor $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(q)}$ that transforms under an irreducible representation of the group, and the *G*-invariant Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(q)}$ of internal degrees of freedom defined by (63). A generic state $|\psi\rangle$ in \mathcal{H} can be expanded on the orthonormal basis adapted to this decomposition:

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{q} \sqrt{p_q} \sum_{m} \sum_{i} \psi_{mi}^{(q)} |q, m\rangle_{\text{sym}} |q, i\rangle_G, \qquad (64)$$

where *m* in the basis $|q, m\rangle_{\text{sym}}$ denotes collectively the eigenvalues of the Cartan generators of the group *G*, and *i* in the basis $|q, i\rangle_G$ labels the internal *G*-invariant degrees of freedom of the system.

We give three examples of the symmetry-resolved Hilbert space for semisimple Lie groups:

G = SU(2) — This is the simplest non-trivial case illustrated in Sec. 1. The generators are the spin operators $\vec{J} = (J^i)$ with i = 1, 2, 3, the structure constants are ϵ^{ij}_k , the Cartan-Killing metric δ_{ij} . The rank of the group is one, and therefore, the decomposition is in terms of a

single Casimir operator, the quadratic Casimir $Q = \delta_{ik} J^i J^k = \vec{J}^2$. As usual, the eigenvalues of the Casimir operator are written as j(j+1) with $j = 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1, ...$ half-integer, and the eigenvalues of the Cartan subalgebra operator J^z are m = -j, ..., +j. The Hilbert space decomposes as $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_j (\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_G^{(j)})$, with $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)}$ of dimension dim $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)} = 2j + 1$ and orthonormal basis $|j, m\rangle_{sym}$. In Sec. 5 we discuss a concrete example of symmetry-resolved spin system where the *G*-invariant Hilbert space of internal degrees of freedom $\mathcal{H}_G^{(j)}$ is the space of SU(2) intertwiners of a spin system, which can also be interpreted geometrically as quantum polyhedra [106, 107].

G = SU(3) — Starting from the 3 × 3 Gell-Mann matrices λ^a (with a = 1, ..., 8) and using the textbook normalization $\lambda^a/2$ of the generators in the fundamental representation [102, 103], we can express the Cartan-Killing metric as $\eta^{ab} = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{tr}(\lambda^a \lambda^b) = \frac{1}{2} \delta^{ab}$, the structure constants as $f^{abc} = -\frac{i}{4} \operatorname{tr}(\lambda^{[a} \lambda^b \lambda^{c]})$ (which is completely antisymmetric when all indices are raised), and the completely symmetric tensor $d^{abc} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\lambda^{(a} \lambda^b \lambda^{c)})$. The rank of the group is 2, and therefore, there are two linearly independent Casimir operators Q_1 and Q_2 . The quadratic Casimir operator $Q_1 = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{ab} T^a T^b$ has eigenvalues $\frac{1}{3}(q^2 + p^2 + qp + 3q + 3p)$. The cubic Casimir operator $Q_2 = \frac{1}{8} d_{abc} T^a T^b T^c$ has eigenvalues $\frac{1}{18}(q-p)(q+2p+3)(p+2q+3)$ sometimes called the anomaly coefficient. The quantum numbers $q, p = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$ label the irreducible representations and the decomposition as a direct sum over the center is $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{q,p} (\mathcal{H}^{(q,p)}_{sym} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(q,p)}_{G})$. The dimension of the sym factor is dim $\mathcal{H}^{(q,p)}_{sym} = \frac{1}{2}(q+1)(p+1)(q+p+2)$.

G = SO(4) — The algebra of the group is the same as the algebra of $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$ with generators given by the spin operators \vec{J}_L and \vec{J}_R [3]. The group has rank 2, and the two linearly independent Casimir operators can be taken as $Q_L = \vec{J}_L^2$ and $Q_R = \vec{J}_R^2$. The half-integer quantum numbers j_L and j_R label the irreducible representations, and the symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space is $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{j_L, j_R} (\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j_L, j_R)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_G^{(j_L, j_R)})$. The dimension of the sym factor is dim $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j_L, j_R)} = (2j_L + 1)(2j_R + 1)$.

In general, for the classical compact matrix groups $A_n = SU(n+1)$, $B_n = SO(2n+1)$ and $C_n = Sp(2n)$ of rank n, the list of the n linearly independent Casimir operators is given by $Q_k = \eta_{a_1...a_k}T^{a_1}\cdots T^{a_k}$ with the invariant tensor $\eta_{a_1...a_k} = \operatorname{tr}(\tau^{(a_1}\cdots\tau^{a_k)})$ defined using where τ^a in the fundamental representation [105]. If one took τ^a in the adjoint representation instead, one could not distinguish the representation (q, p) from its conjugate (p, q) in SU(3), for instance. In the case $D_n = SO(2n)$, one can construct the invariant tensors from the spinor representation or, equivalently, one can take the (n-1) Casimir operators of even order, Q_{2k} with $k = 1, \ldots, n-1$, together with the order-n Casimir invariant $\tilde{Q} = \epsilon_{\mu_1 \nu_1...\mu_n \nu_n} J^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots J^{\mu_n \nu_n}$, where $J^{\mu\nu}$ are the generators. The Casimir operator \tilde{Q} allows us to distinguish the two mirror representations of SO(2n). In the case of SO(4), this construction reduces to the two quadratic invariants $Q = J_{\mu\nu}J^{\mu\nu} = 4(J_L^2 + J_R^2)$ and $\tilde{Q} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}J^{\mu\nu}J^{\rho\sigma} = 8(J_L^2 - J_R^2)$. A similar construction applies to the exceptional Lie groups G_2 , F_4 , E_6 , E_7 , E_8 , with the invariant tensors $\eta_{a_1...a_k}$ built from the generators in an irreducible representation that is non-degenerate.

Finally, let us comment on the Abelian case using the compact Lie group U(1) or many copies of it:

 $G = U(1) \times \cdots \times U(1)$ — We note that the symmetry-resolved decomposition (62) becomes trivial. In fact, in this case the structure constants f^{ab}_{c} vanish because the generators T^{a} commute, and therefore their algebra coincides with the center, $\mathcal{A}_{sym} = \mathcal{Z}_{sym} = \mathbb{C}[T^{a}]$. As a result, we have a decomposition of the form $\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{m} \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)}$ where the eigenvalues of the commuting generators T^{a} (sometimes called charges or particle numbers) are collectively denoted as m. The sym factor in the decomposition is trivial, dim $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(m)} = 1$, and can be reabsorbed into a phase in each sector $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)}$.

3.2 Symmetry-resolved states and subsystems

The symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space (62) allows us to write *G*-invariant observables as

$$O \in \mathcal{A}_G \implies O = \bigoplus_q \left(\mathbb{1}_{\text{sym}}^{(q)} \otimes O_G^{(q)} \right).$$
(65)

Given a pure state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$, we can write the restriction of the state to the *G*-invariant observables as $\rho_G = \langle \psi | \Pi_G | \psi \rangle$, where the map Π_G is defined concretely by (26). A symmetry-resolved state is defined as a pure state that remains pure when restricted to the *G*-invariant subalgebra of observables \mathcal{A}_G . As shown in Sec. 2, Eq. (36), this implies that it belongs to an irreducible representation *q* and has the product form:

 $|\psi\rangle$ symmetry-resolved state in $\mathcal{H} \iff \exists q : |\psi\rangle = |q,\xi\rangle_{\text{sym}} |q,\chi\rangle_G$. (66)

In other words, symmetry-resolved states have no entanglement between internal G-invariant degrees of freedom and sym degrees of freedom that change under transformations of the group G.

A symmetry-resolved subsystem is defined by a set O_1, O_2, \ldots of *G*-invariant observables that we have access to. The algebra \mathcal{A}_{GS} that they generate is

$$\mathcal{A}_{GS} = \mathbb{C}[O_l] \subseteq \mathcal{A}_G, \quad \text{with} \quad O_l \in \mathcal{A}_G, \quad l = 1, \dots, L.$$
(67)

We are interested in the restriction of a state $|\psi\rangle$ to this subalgebra, $\rho_{GS} = \langle \psi | \Pi_{GS} | \psi \rangle$. To build the map Π_{GS} , we follow the steps discussed in Sec. 2. First, we define the rest of the system using the commutant algebra,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\overline{GS}} \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{GS})' = \{ M \in \mathcal{A} \mid [M, O_l] = 0, \ \forall \ O_l \in \mathcal{A}_{GS} \}.$$
(68)

Note that $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{GS}}$ also contains observables that are not *G*-invariant. The center of the subalgebra is generated by a set of commuting *G*-invariant observables R_i in the intersection of the two,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{GS} = \mathcal{A}_{GS} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\overline{GS}} = \mathbb{C}[R_i].$$
(69)

By diagonalizing first the commuting observables R_i and calling collectively their eigenvalues r, we obtain the direct sum decomposition

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{r} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GS}^{(r)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\overline{GS}}^{(r)} \right).$$
(70)

This decomposition allows us to define the map Π_{GS} . As we are interested in the restriction of a symmetry-resolved state to a symmetry-resolved subsystem, it is useful to have a decomposition of the Hilbert space and an orthonormal basis that is adapted to both decompositions (62) and (70). We show that this is possible in general with a concrete construction.

We introduce a decomposition adapted to symmetry-resolved states and symmetryresolved subsystems. Let us consider the algebra A_{symGS} generated by the symmetry generators T^a and by the *G*-invariant observables O_l that generate the subsystem,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GS} = \mathbb{C}[T^a, O_l]. \tag{71}$$

The commutant of this algebra is⁶

$$\mathcal{A}_{G\overline{S}} \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GS})' = \mathbb{C}[T^a, O_l]' = \mathbb{C}[T^a]' \cap \mathbb{C}[O_l]' = (\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}})' \cap (\mathcal{A}_{GS})' = \mathcal{A}_G \cap \mathcal{A}_{\overline{GS}}.$$
 (72)

⁶In the first line we used the relation (15) that applies to any set of observables H_i and K_j .

Note that, because of the presence of the symmetry generators T^a in $\mathcal{A}_{sym GS}$, the algebra $\mathcal{A}_{G\overline{S}}$ contains only the *G*-invariant observables in $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{GS}}$. We can now define the center

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{sym}GS} = \mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GS} \cap \mathcal{A}_{G\overline{S}} = \mathbb{C}[Q_k, R_i].$$
(73)

Note that the center of the algebra A_{symGS} is generated by the elements of the center R_i of the symmetry-resolved subsystem and by the Casimir operators Q_k of the group G. The fact that the two commutes, $[R_i, Q_k] = 0$, follows immediately from the fact that R_i are G-invariant observables, i.e., $[R_i, T^a] = 0$, and the Casimir operators (60) are functions of the symmetry generator. By diagonalizing simultaneously the commuting set $\{Q_k, R_i\}$ with eigenvalues denoted collectively by q and r, we obtain the decomposition

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{q} \Big(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(q)} \otimes \bigoplus_{r} \Big(\mathcal{H}_{GS}^{(r)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G\overline{S}}^{(q,r)} \Big) \Big).$$
(74)

The decomposition comes with an orthonormal basis adapted simultaneously to symmetryresolved states and to the symmetry-resolved subsystems,

$$|q, r, \alpha, \beta\rangle = |q, m\rangle_{\text{sym}} |r, \alpha\rangle_{GS} |q, r, \beta\rangle_{G\overline{S}}.$$
(75)

Note that the basis elements $|r, \alpha\rangle_{GS}$ of the symmetry-resolved system depend on the eigenvalues r of R_i but not on the eigenvalues q of the Casimirs Q_k . This feature can also be understood by considering the two decompositions $\mathcal{H}_G^{(q)} = \bigoplus_r \left(\mathcal{H}_{GS}^{(r)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G\overline{S}}^{(q,r)} \right)$ and $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{GS}}^{(r)} = \bigoplus_q \left(\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(q)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G\overline{S}}^{(q,r)} \right)$, that relate the formulas (62), (70) and (74).

3.3 Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy

The entanglement entropy of a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi\rangle$ restricted to a symmetry-resolved subsystem can be defined and computed using the tools introduced above. The symmetry-resolved state can be first written in the basis adapted to the subsystem:

$$|\psi\rangle = \Big(\sum_{m} \xi_{m} |q,m\rangle_{\text{sym}}\Big)\Big(\sum_{r} \sqrt{p_{r}} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \chi_{\alpha\beta}^{(r)} |r,\alpha\rangle_{GS} |q,r,\beta\rangle_{G\overline{S}}\Big),$$
(76)

with p_r , the probability of finding the state in the sector is r. The state belongs to a definite sector q, it does not have entanglement between internal *G*-invariant degrees of freedom and sym degrees of freedom, and, in general, can have entanglement between the *G*-invariant degrees of freedom in the subsystem and its complement. The restriction to the subsystem can be written as

$$\rho_{GS} = \langle \psi | \Pi_{GS} | \psi \rangle = \bigoplus_{r} p_r \, \rho_{GS}^{(r)}, \quad \text{with} \quad (\rho_{GS}^{(r)})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \sum_{\beta} \chi_{\alpha\beta}^{(r)} \chi_{\alpha'\beta}^{(r)*}. \tag{77}$$

The entanglement entropy $S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{GS})$ can then be computed using (29), (35). Bounds on the entanglement entropy can be written in terms of the dimensions of the sectors:

$$d_r = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GS}^{(r)}, \qquad b_{qr} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{G\overline{S}}^{(q,r)}, \qquad D_q = \dim \mathcal{H}_G^{(q)} = \sum_r d_r b_{qr}.$$
(78)

In particular a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi^{(q)}\rangle$ in the sector q has entanglement entropy bounded from above by

$$0 \leq S(|\psi^{(q)}\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{GS}) \leq \log\Big(\sum_{r} \min(d_r, b_{qr})\Big).$$
(79)

Note that here, the sector $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(q)}$ is simply an ancilla, and the entropy is independent of ξ_m .

A random symmetry-resolved state with fixed q can be defined starting from a reference state of the symmetry-resolved form $|q, \xi\rangle_{\text{sym}} |q, \chi\rangle_G$, and acting on it with a random unitary of the form $\bigoplus_q (U_{\text{sym}}^{(q)} \otimes U_G^{(q)})$, where $U_{\text{sym}}^{(q)}$ and $U_G^{(q)}$ are Haar-measure distributed on $\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(q)}$ and $\mathcal{H}_G^{(q)}$ respectively. The average entanglement entropy and its variance are then given by the expressions (43) and (44), with the dimensions d_r and b_{qr} given above.

4 Locality, many-body systems and G-local entanglement

In a lattice many-body system, there is a built-in notion of locality associated with the *N* bodies, or particles, at the sites of the lattice. We assume that the Hilbert space at each site *n* is a copy of a finite-dimensional Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_d \simeq \mathbb{C}^d$ that carries a unitary (reducible) representation of a compact Lie group *G*. Therefore, the kinematical Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_N of the system is the tensor product of the Hilbert spaces at sites [18, 108]:

$$\mathcal{H}_N = \underbrace{\mathcal{H}_d \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_d}_N.$$
(80)

Calling T_n^a the *d*-dimensional (reducible) representation of the generators of the group *G* at each site *n*, we have that the generator of global transformation for the group *G* acting on \mathcal{H}_N is simply given by the sum

$$T^{a} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} T_{n}^{a}.$$
 (81)

We can then use the results of Sec. 3, and in particular (62)–(63), to decompose the Hilbert space in symmetry-resolved sectors

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{q} \mathcal{H}_{N}^{(q)} = \bigoplus_{q} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(q)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(q)} \right), \tag{82}$$

where the quantum number q labels the irreducible representations of the group G, i.e., the eigenvalues of the Casimir operators for a semisimple Lie group. The representation space $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(q)}$ is the one already described in Sec. 3.1 and the invariant space is

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(q)} = \operatorname{Inv}_{G} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(\bar{q})} \otimes \underbrace{\mathcal{H}_{d} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{d}}_{N} \right),$$
(83)

where \bar{q} is the conjugate representation. In this section, we discuss how the new ingredient of locality associated with the many-body system allows us to define the distinct notions of *K*-local and *G*-local observables illustrated in the introduction in Fig. (1),(2),(3).

4.1 *K*-local decomposition of the Hilbert space

Let us consider a subset $n \in A$ of the nodes of the many-body lattice, for instance, the ones defining a local region A of the lattice and excluding its complement B [108]. This subsystem corresponds to the standard tensor-product decomposition

$$\mathcal{H}_N = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$$
, with $\mathcal{H}_A = \bigotimes_{n \in A} \mathcal{H}_d$, $\mathcal{H}_B = \bigotimes_{n \in B} \mathcal{H}_d$. (84)

This decomposition is associated with a *K*-local subalgebra of observables. Let us define first the kinematical algebra of observables $A_K = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_N)$. The *K*-local subalgebra in *A* is

$$\mathcal{A}_{KA} = \{ O \in \mathcal{A}_K \mid O = O_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \text{ with } O_A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_A) \}.$$
(85)

Clearly we have that the *K*-local subalgebra in *B* coincides with the commutant of *A*, i.e., $A_{KB} = (A_{KA})'$, and that the center is trivial $A_{KA} \cap A_{KB} = \mathbb{1}$.

We note that the operator (81) that generates global unitary transformations for the group *G* takes the form

$$T^a = T^a_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes T^a_B, \tag{86}$$

which is additive over the subsystems A and B. The operator T_A^a given by

$$T_A^a \otimes \mathbb{1}_B = \sum_{n \in A} T_n^a \in \mathcal{A}_{KA},\tag{87}$$

and generates unitary transformations for the group G in A.⁷

4.2 G-local decomposition and symmetry-resolution

G-invariant observables O_G of the many-body system belong to the algebra \mathcal{A}_G defined in (59). *G*-local observables in the subsystem *A* are observables that are both *G*-invariant and belong to the subsystem *A*. They are, therefore, elements of the intersection of the two algebras,

$$\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \mathcal{A}_{KA} \cap \mathcal{A}_G \,. \tag{88}$$

We can similarly define G-local observables in B,

$$\mathcal{A}_{GB} = \mathcal{A}_{KB} \cap \mathcal{A}_G \,. \tag{89}$$

Note that in general, for a non-Abelian group, the two subalgebras are not the commutant of each other, $A_{GB} \neq (A_{GA})'$. In fact, using $A_G = (A_{sym})'$ and the intersection formula (15), we find

$$(\mathcal{A}_{GA})' = (\mathcal{A}_{KA} \cap \mathcal{A}_G)' = ((\mathcal{A}_{KB})' \cap (\mathcal{A}_{sym})')' = \mathbb{C}[\mathbb{1}_A \otimes O_B, T_A^a \otimes \mathbb{1}_B].$$
(90)

We can now determine the center of the subalgebra,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{GA} = \mathcal{A}_{GA} \cap (\mathcal{A}_{GA})' = \mathbb{C} \Big[Q_A^{(1)}, \dots, Q_A^{(\operatorname{rank}(G))} \Big],$$
(91)

which is generated by the Casimir operators in the subsystem A,

$$Q_A^{(k)} = \eta_{a_1 \cdots a_{p(k)}} T_A^{a_1} \cdots T_A^{a_{p(k)}}, \qquad k = 1, \dots, \text{rank}(G),$$
(92)

with the symmetric tensors $\eta_{a_1 \cdots a_{p(k)}}$ defined in (60). Denoting collectively q_A the eigenvalues of the subsystem Casimir operators in *A*, and using the results of Sec. 3.2, we obtain a decomposition of the Hilbert space sector $\mathcal{H}_N^{(q)}$ in *G*-local subsystems:

$$\mathcal{H}_{N}^{(q)} = \mathcal{H}_{\rm sym}^{(q)} \otimes \bigoplus_{q_{A}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(q_{A})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(q,q_{A})} \right), \tag{93}$$

where the factors are defined as

$$\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(q_A)} = \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(\bar{q}_A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A), \qquad \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(q,q_A)} = \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(\bar{q})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(q_A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_B).$$
(94)

This decomposition provides us with an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}_N^{(q)}$ adapted to the subalgebra \mathcal{A}_{GA} . It is then immediate to compute the entanglement entropy S_{GA} of a state $|\psi\rangle$ restricted to the *G*-local subalgebra in *A*,

$$S_{GA} = S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{GA}).$$
(95)

⁷Note that we are using the same notation for the generator acting on the Hilbert space of a single site $T_n^a \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_d)$ and for the generator acting on a single site of the many-body Hilbert space, $T_n^a \equiv \mathbb{1}_d \otimes \cdots \otimes T_n^a \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{1}_d \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_d \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_d)$.

It is interesting to compare the properties of the *G*-local entanglement entropy S_{GA} to the ones of the familiar *K*-local entanglement entropy S_{KA} ,

$$S_{KA} = S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}_{KA}).$$
(96)

In general, the two entropies do not coincide because the *G*-local subalgebra can be understood as a coarse-graining of the *K*-local one [29], i.e., $\mathcal{A}_{GA} \subset \mathcal{A}_{KA}$. They both probe local properties of the many-body system and can be understood as functions of the number of bodies N_A in the subsystem *A*. However, there is a crucial difference between the two. Commutant symmetry (39) implies that $S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle) = S_{KB}(|\psi\rangle)$, but in general $S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle) \neq S_{GB}(|\psi\rangle)$ because $\mathcal{A}_{GB} \neq (\mathcal{A}_{GA})'$.

Bringing together the results of Sec. 2, Sec. 3, and the decomposition (93), we obtain the exact formulas for the typical *G*-local symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy that apply to a compact Lie group *G*. For a random symmetry-resolved state $|\psi^{(q)}\rangle$ with total charge *q*, the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy has average value

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_{q} = \sum_{q_{A} \mid d_{q_{A}} \le b_{qq_{A}}} \frac{d_{q_{A}} b_{qq_{A}}}{D} \left(\Psi(D+1) - \Psi(b_{qq_{A}}+1) - \frac{d_{q_{A}}-1}{2 \, b_{qq_{A}}} \right)$$
(97)

$$+\sum_{q_{A}\mid d_{q_{A}}>b_{qq_{A}}} \frac{d_{q_{A}}b_{qq_{A}}}{D} \bigg(\Psi(D+1) - \Psi(d_{q_{A}}+1) - \frac{b_{qq_{A}}-1}{2 d_{q_{A}}}\bigg),$$
(98)

where the dimensions of the sectors are defined as

$$d_{q_A} = \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(q_A)}, \qquad b_{qq_A} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(q,q_A)}, \qquad D = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(q_A)} = \sum_{q_A} d_{q_A} b_{qq_A}.$$
 (99)

Note that the formula takes into account the fact that, in the sum over subsystem charges q_A , the dimensions of the subsystem sectors can satisfy either $d_{q_A} \le b_{qq_A}$ or $d_{q_A} > b_{qq_A}$.

Following the definitions in table 10, we can also decompose the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy into different components. The average symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy at fixed subsystem charge, $\langle S_{GA}^{(q_A)} \rangle_q$, i.e., the entanglement entropy of a random symmetry-resolved state $|\psi^{(q)}\rangle$ projected to the sector with subsystem charge q_A , is given by the standard Page formula [1,2]

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(q_A)} \rangle_q = \begin{cases} \Psi(d_{q_A} b_{qq_A} + 1) - \Psi(b_{qq_A} + 1) - \frac{d_{q_A} - 1}{2 b_{qq_A}}, & d_{q_A} \le b_{qq_A}, \\ b_{qq_A} \longleftrightarrow d_{q_A}, & d_{q_A} > b_{qq_A}. \end{cases}$$
(100)

The average over the subsystem sectors q_A , weighted with the probability,

$$\varrho_{q_A} = \frac{d_{q_A} b_{qq_A}}{D},\tag{101}$$

of the state $|\psi^{(q)}\rangle$ being found in each sector, is given by the configurational entropy

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} \rangle_q = \sum_{q_A} \rho_{q_A} \langle S_{GA}^{(q_A)} \rangle_q \,. \tag{102}$$

The average Shannon entropy of the probability distribution (101) defines the number entropy

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} \rangle_{q} = \sum_{q_{A}} \varrho_{q_{A}} \left(\Psi(D+1) - \Psi(d_{q_{A}}b_{qq_{A}}+1) \right).$$
(103)

Finally, the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy can be written as the sum

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_q = \langle S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} \rangle_q + \langle S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} \rangle_q \,. \tag{104}$$

4.3 U(1) symmetry-resolved entanglement

In the case of an Abelian symmetry group there are significant simplifications that we illustrate here with the example of G = U(1) and charge conservation [4–12].

We consider a lattice many-body system with nodes carrying a copy of the two-dimensional Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_2 = \mathbb{C}^2$ of a spin-1/2 particle, and transforming under a reducible representation of the group U(1), i.e.,

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \underbrace{\mathcal{H}_{2} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{2}}_{N}, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{H}_{2} = \bigoplus_{m'=\pm 1/2} \mathcal{H}_{2}^{(m')} = \operatorname{span}(|1/2, \pm 1/2\rangle). \quad (105)$$

The generator of the U(1) symmetry at each site is the spin operator $S_n^z = \sigma^z/2$, and the generator of global U(1) transformations is

$$J^{z} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} S_{n}^{z},$$
 (106)

which generates global rotations that preserve the direction of the axis z. The Hilbert space of the system decomposes as a direct sum over irreducible representations of the group U(1) labeled by the quantum number m, the eigenvalue of J^z or the total charge,

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{m=-N/2}^{+N/2} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(m)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)} \right) = \bigoplus_{m=-N/2}^{+N/2} \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)}.$$
(107)

We note that, as the group is Abelian, the sym factor $\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(m)}$ is trivial, it has dimension $\dim \mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(m)} = 1$ and the pure phase $e^{im\theta}$ associated to each irreducible representation m can be reabsorbed in the U(1)-invariant part of the state in $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)}$. Moreover, as for U(1) the conjugate representation is simply $\overline{m} = -m$, the invariant Hilbert space is given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)} = \operatorname{Inv}_{G} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(-m)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{N} \right) = \bigoplus_{\substack{m_{1}, \dots, m_{N} = \pm 1/2 \\ m_{1} + \dots + m_{N} = m}} \mathcal{H}_{2}^{(m_{1})} \otimes \dots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{2}^{(m_{N})}.$$
(108)

To define a *G*-local subsystem with N_A bodies, we define the generator of U(1) transformations in *A*,

$$J_A^z = \sum_{n \in A} S_n^z, \tag{109}$$

with eigenvalues m_A . The decomposition in *G*-local subsystems is then given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)} = \bigoplus_{m_{A}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(m_{A})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(m,m_{A})} \right) = \bigoplus_{\substack{m_{A},m_{B} \\ m_{A}+m_{B}=m}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(m_{A})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(m_{B})} \right), \tag{110}$$

where we used the relation $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(m_A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(m_B)} = \mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(m_A+m_B)}$ that holds only in the Abelian case, together with the definitions

$$\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(m_A)} \equiv \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(-m_A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A), \tag{111}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(m,m_A)} \equiv \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(-m)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(m_A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) = \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{sym}}^{(-m+m_A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) = \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(m-m_A)}.$$
 (112)

Note that, in the Abelian case, for a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi^{(m)}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(m)}$, the *G*-local and the *K*-local entropy coincide,

$$G = U(1) \implies S_{GA}(|\psi^{(m)}\rangle) = S_{KA}(|\psi^{(m)}\rangle), \qquad (113)$$

and the commutant symmetry (39) implies the subsystem symmetry

$$G = U(1) \implies S_{GB}(|\psi^{(m)}\rangle) = S_{GA}(|\psi^{(m)}\rangle).$$
(114)

Applying the general formulas (97)–(104) to the Abelian Lie group G = U(1), we see that the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in the sector of charge *m* has the average value

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_m = \sum_{m_A \mid d_{m_A} \le b_{m m_A}} \frac{d_{m_A} b_{m m_A}}{D} \left(\Psi(D+1) - \Psi(b_{m m_A}+1) - \frac{d_{m_A}-1}{2 b_{m m_A}} \right)$$
(115)

$$+\sum_{m_{A}\mid d_{m_{A}}>b_{m_{m_{A}}}}\frac{d_{m_{A}}b_{m_{m_{A}}}}{D}\bigg(\Psi(D+1)-\Psi(d_{m_{A}}+1)-\frac{b_{m_{M}}-1}{2\,d_{m_{A}}}\bigg),$$
(116)

where the dimensions of the sectors are given by

$$D_m = \dim \mathcal{H}_G^{(m)} = \binom{N}{\frac{N}{2} + m},\tag{117}$$

$$d_{m_A} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(m_A)} = \binom{N_A}{\frac{N_A}{2} + m_A},\tag{118}$$

$$b_{m m_A} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(m,m_A)} = \binom{N - N_A}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + m - m_A}.$$
 (119)

Note that the formula takes into account the fact that, in the sum over subsystem charges q_A , the dimensions of the subsystem sectors can satisfy either $d_{m_A} \le b_{m m_A}$ or $d_{m_A} > b_{m m_A}$.

Following the definitions in table 10, we can also decompose the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy into different components. The average symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy at fixed subsystem charge, $\langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m$, i.e., the entanglement entropy of a random symmetry-resolved state $|\psi^{(m)}\rangle$ projected to the sector with subsystem charge m_A , is given by the standard Page formula [1,2]

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m = \begin{cases} \Psi(d_{m_A} b_{m m_A} + 1) - \Psi(b_{m m_A} + 1) - \frac{d_{m_A} - 1}{2 b_{m m_A}}, & d_{m_A} \le b_{m m_A}, \\ b_{m m_A} \longleftrightarrow d_{m_A}, & d_{m_A} > b_{m m_A}. \end{cases}$$
(120)

The average over the subsystem sectors m_A , weighted with the probability,

$$\varrho_{m_A} = \frac{d_{m_A} b_{m m_A}}{D}, \qquad (121)$$

of the state $|\psi^{(m)}\rangle$ being found in each sector, is given by the configurational entropy

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} \rangle_m = \sum_{m_A} \rho_{m_A} \langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m \,. \tag{122}$$

The average Shannon entropy of the probability distribution (101) defines the number entropy

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} \rangle_m = \sum_{m_A} \rho_{m_A} \Big(\Psi(D+1) - \Psi(d_{m_A} b_{m\,m_A} + 1) \Big), \tag{123}$$

Finally, the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy can be written as the sum

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_m = \langle S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} \rangle_m + \langle S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} \rangle_m.$$
 (124)

To compare to the literature on the thermodynamic limit [4–8] and on equipartition of entanglement [15], we introduce intensive quantities and study the behavior of subsystem entropy in the limit $N \rightarrow \infty$ at fixed intensive properties. Specifically, we define the subsystem fraction f, the system U(1) charge density s, and the subsystem charge density t as follows:

$$f = \frac{N_A}{N}, \qquad s = \frac{2m}{N}, \qquad t = \frac{2m_A}{N_A},$$
 (125)

and we restrict here to f < 1/2. At the leading order in *N*, the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy at fixed system and subsystem charge reduces to

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m = \log d_{m_A} + O(1) = f N \beta(t) - \frac{1}{2} \log N + O(1),$$
 (126)

where we used the property (48) that allows us to write the digamma function $\Psi(x)$ as a logarithm at the leading order, and we have defined the function $\beta(t)$ as:

$$\beta(t) = -\frac{1-t}{2} \log\left(\frac{1-t}{2}\right) - \frac{1+t}{2} \log\left(\frac{1+t}{2}\right).$$
(127)

This result corresponds exactly to the one found in [6].⁸ We then compute the configurational entropy, number entropy, and total symmetry-resolved entropy in the thermodynamic limit. In this limit, the probability ρ_{m_A} (121) is approximated by a discrete Gaussian probability with mean $\bar{m}_A = Nf \frac{s}{2}$ and variance $\sigma_A^2 = N \frac{f(1-f)}{4}$. In terms of intensive quantities, this translates into a continuous probability density function $\rho(t)$ with mean $\bar{t} = s$ and variance $\sigma_t^2 = \frac{1-f}{f_N}$. We evaluate the configurational entropy at leading order in N using saddle-point techniques. This is equivalent to computing the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy at fixed system and subsystem charge (126) at the mean $t = \bar{t} = s$:

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} \rangle_m = f N \beta(s) - \frac{1}{2} \log N + O(1).$$
(128)

The computation of the number entropy is straightforward. The Shannon entropy of a discrete Gaussian probability is simply given by $\frac{1}{2}\log(2\pi\sigma_A^2) + \frac{1}{2}$ where σ_A is the variance. Hence, the number entropy is:

$$\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} \rangle_m = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(N \frac{\pi f (1 - f)}{2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} + O(1) = \frac{1}{2} \log N + O(1).$$
(129)

We note that when we sum the configurational entropy and the number entropy to obtain the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy, the logarithmic contributions cancel, resulting in the formula

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_m = f N \beta(s) + O(1), \qquad (130)$$

with no logarithmic corrections.

Finally, we comment on the equipartition (or lack of equipartition) of entanglement entropy in the thermodynamic limit, as discussed in [15] and [6]. By equipartition of entanglement, one means that the entropy $\langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m$ is independent of m_A in some limit. As we found that $\langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m \approx f N \beta(t)$ with $t = 2m_A/N_A$, we conclude that there is no equipartition of entanglement entropy, as the leading order in N depends explicitly on the subsystem charge m_A , as already found in [6]. Furthermore, following the argument in [6], we emphasize the importance of the order of limits. If m_A is fixed before taking the limit $N \to \infty$, using the expansion $\beta(t) = \log 2 - \frac{1}{2}t^2 + O(t^4)$, we obtain instead $\langle S_{GA}^{(m_A)} \rangle_m \approx f N \log 2$. This result matches that of [15], where the leading order is independent of m_A and the equipartition of entanglement entropy is restored.

⁸A note about conventions. In [6], the *U*(1) charges are defined as positive quantities. To compare the formulas, one can use the relations $M \equiv m + N/2$ and $Q = m_A + N_A/2$.

5 SU(2) symmetry-resolved entanglement in a spin system

We consider a system consisting of *N* spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles. Each particle has Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(1/2)} \simeq \mathbb{C}^2$, and the Hilbert space of the system comes with a built-in tensor product structure,

$$\mathcal{H}_N = \underbrace{\mathcal{H}^{(1/2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(1/2)}}_N.$$
(131)

The spin operators $\vec{S}_n = (S_n^x, S_n^y, S_n^z)$ generate SU(2) rotations of each particle, satisfy the algebra

$$[S_n^i, S_{n'}^j] = i \,\delta_{nn'} \,\epsilon^{ij}{}_k \,S_n^k, \qquad n, n' = 1, \dots, N, \tag{132}$$

and can be represented in terms of Pauli matrices $\vec{\sigma}$ as $\vec{S}_n = \mathbb{1}_2 \otimes \ldots \otimes \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2} \otimes \ldots \otimes \mathbb{1}_2$. We also introduce the total spin operator \vec{J} ,

$$\vec{J} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \vec{S}_n,$$
 (133)

which generates SU(2) rotations of the full system, i.e., $[J^i, S_n^j] = i \epsilon^{ij} S_n^k$. As usual, we write the eigenvalues of \vec{J}^2 as j(j + 1). There is a minimum and a maximum spin of the system, which depends on the number *N* of particles:

$$N \text{ even} \implies j_{\min} = 0, \qquad j_{\max} = \frac{N}{2}, \qquad j \text{ integer},$$
 (134)

$$N \text{ odd} \implies j_{\min} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad j_{\max} = \frac{N}{2}, \quad j \text{ half-integer.}$$
 (135)

Following the logic discussed in Sec. 3, we can decompose the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_N of the system into a direct sum of SU(2) symmetry-resolved sectors. This decomposition allows us to define symmetry-resolved states. Moreover, using the techniques of Sec. 4, we can introduce a notion of *G*-local subsystem for the non-Abelian group G = SU(2).

5.1 Symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space

We start with the algebra of observables of the system, which we call the *kinematical* algebra \mathcal{A}_K to distinguish it from the group-invariant algebra \mathcal{A}_G discussed later. The kinematical algebra of observables of the system is generated by the spin operators S_n^i ,

$$\mathcal{A}_{K} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{N}) = \mathbb{C}[S_{n}^{i}], \quad \text{with} \quad n = 1, \dots, N, \qquad (136)$$

where $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_N) \simeq M_{2^N}(\mathbb{C})$ is the set of linear operators on \mathcal{H}_N , and $\mathbb{C}[S_n^i]$ denotes the algebra generated by S_n^i as defined in (13). The subalgebra generated by the *SU*(2) symmetry generators J^i is

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm sym} = \mathbb{C} \big[J^i \big]. \tag{137}$$

We can introduce then the commutant $(A_{sym})'$, which defines the algebra A_G of group-invariant observables,

$$\mathcal{A}_G \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}})' = \{ M \in \mathcal{A}_K \mid [M, J^i] = 0 \} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_n \cdot \vec{S}_{n'}].$$
(138)

This is the algebra of observables that commute with the symmetry generators J^i or, equivalently, that are invariant under rotations:

 $O \in \mathcal{A}_G \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad U O U^{-1} = O, \qquad \text{with} \qquad U = e^{i\alpha_i J^i}.$ (139)

The center of the subalgebra is generated by the Casimir operator \vec{J}^2 ,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{sym}} = \mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}} \cap \mathcal{A}_G = \mathbb{C}[\vec{J}^2].$$
(140)

The symmetry-resolved decomposition of the Hilbert space is then given by a direct sum over the eigenvalues of the elements in the center,

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{j=j_{\min}}^{j_{\max}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)} \right), \tag{141}$$

that is a sum over the irreducible representations j, with each j-sector consisting of a tensor product of the Hilbert spaces for *rotational symmetry* degrees of freedom and for *internal* (rotationally invariant) degrees of freedom. The rotational-symmetry degrees of freedom span a Hilbert space of dimension dim $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)} = 2j + 1$, with an orthonormal basis given by the spin-j states

$$|j,m\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\rm sym}^{(j)},\tag{142}$$

where m = -j, ..., +j are the eigenvalues of J^z . The internal degrees of freedom can be understood as the SU(2)-invariant tensors in the tensor product of N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ representations and one spin-j representation, which form the intertwiner space

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)} = \operatorname{Inv}_{G} \left(\mathcal{H}^{(j)} \otimes \underbrace{\mathcal{H}^{(1/2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(1/2)}}_{N} \right).$$
(143)

Note that we have used Eq. (83) with the conjugate representation $\overline{j} = j$ for the group SU(2). An orthonormal basis of this space is given by the recoupling basis [23],

$$|j,k_1,\ldots,k_{N-2}\rangle = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} k_1 & k_2 & \cdots & k_{N-2} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$

The quantum numbers k_1, \ldots, k_{N-2} label the eigenvalues $k_r(k_r + 1)$ of the recoupling operators \vec{K}_r^2 . These operators form a maximal set of commuting observables defined in terms of the operators

$$\vec{K}_r = \sum_{n=1}^r \vec{S}_n, \qquad r = 1, \dots, N-2,$$
 (145)

which are the generator of SU(2) rotations of the first r spins.

The dimension of the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)}$ of the internal degrees of freedom can be computed using the general formula for the dimension of SU(2) intertwiner space between the representations j_1, \ldots, j_L , (see App. A for a detailed derivation):

$$D_{j} \equiv \dim \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)} = \frac{2j+1}{j+\frac{N}{2}+1} \binom{N}{\frac{N}{2}+j},$$
(146)

where $\binom{n}{k} = \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!}$ is the binomial coefficient. The sum of the dimensions of symmetryresolved sectors matches the dimension 2^N of the Hilbert space of N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles, i.e., $\dim \mathcal{H}_N = \sum_j (2j+1)D_j = 2^N$.

Symmetry-resolved states are states of N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles that transform in a spin-*j* representation of the total spin and have no entanglement between its rotational and its internal degrees of freedom, i.e., states of the form:

$$|\psi\rangle = |j,\xi\rangle_{\rm sym} |j,\chi\rangle_G \in \mathcal{H}_N, \qquad (147)$$

with

$$|j,\xi\rangle_{\rm sym} = \sum_{m} \xi_m |j,m\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\rm sym}^{(j)},\tag{148}$$

$$|j,\chi\rangle_{G} = \sum_{k_{1},\dots,k_{N-2}} c_{k_{1},\dots,k_{N-2}} |j,k_{1},\dots,k_{N-2}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)},$$
(149)

i.e.,

$$|\psi\rangle = \sum_{m,k_1,\dots,k_{N-2}} \xi_m c_{k_1,\dots,k_{N-2}} |j,m\rangle |j,k_1,\dots,k_{N-2}\rangle.$$
(150)

5.2 Symmetry-resolved subsystems: *K*-local vs *G*-local observables

A system of *N*-particles often comes with a built-in notion of locality. For instance, the particles might be distributed at the nodes of a lattice, therefore inducing a notion of first-neighbors and regions. Local observables of the system can then be expressed in terms of the spin operators \vec{S}_n of a subset of spins belonging to the region. The kinematical algebra of observables \mathcal{A}_K is generated by the complete set of spin operators (136), while the subalgebra of observables in a region A is generated by the N_A spin operators in the region,

$$\mathcal{A}_{KA} = \mathbb{C}[S_a^i], \quad \text{with} \quad a = 1, \dots, N_A.$$
(151)

We call \mathcal{A}_{KA} the *K*-local subalgebra of observables for the region *A*. Note that this subalgebra induces the standard decomposition of the Hilbert space as a tensor product $\mathcal{H}_N = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ over the region *A* and its complement *B*. In fact one finds that the commutant of \mathcal{A}_{KA} is generated by the observables in the complementary region *B*, with $N_A + N_B = N$ and

$$\mathcal{A}_{KB} \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{KA})' = \mathbb{C}[S_b^i], \quad \text{with} \quad b = N_A + 1, \dots, N_A + N_B.$$
(152)

Moreover, note that the center of the subalgebra is trivial, $A_{KA} \cap A_{KB} = 1$, which results in the familiar tensor product structure with no direct sum.

Observables that are invariant under the group G = SU(2) form the algebra \mathcal{A}_G , (138). To identify a local subalgebra of *G*-invariant observables we take the intersection with \mathcal{A}_{KA} ,

$$\mathcal{A}_{GA} \equiv \mathcal{A}_{G} \cap \mathcal{A}_{KA} = \mathbb{C} \big[\vec{S}_{a} \cdot \vec{S}_{a'} \big], \quad \text{with} \quad a, a' = 1, \dots, N_{A}.$$
(153)

We call \mathcal{A}_{GA} the *G*-local subalgebra of observables for the region *A*. Note that this subalgebra is generated by the scalar products $\vec{S}_a \cdot \vec{S}_{a'}$ of spins in *A*. The commutant of \mathcal{A}_{GA} in \mathcal{A}_K is

$$\mathcal{A}_{\overline{GA}} \equiv (\mathcal{A}_{GA})' = (\mathcal{A}_{G} \cap \mathcal{A}_{KA})' = ((\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}})' \cap (\mathcal{A}_{KB})')'$$
(154)

$$= \left(\mathbb{C}[J^i]' \cap \mathbb{C}[S^i_b]' \right)' = \mathbb{C}[J^i, S^i_b] = \mathbb{C}[J^i, L^i, S^i_b],$$
(155)

where we have used the intersection formula (15). Note that $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{GA}}$ is not a subalgebra of \mathcal{A}_{KB} as it contains also the total symmetry generator J^i . Note also that $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{GA}}$ is not the same as \mathcal{A}_{GB} . As we have highlighted in the last equality above, it is useful also to introduce the operator L^i that measures the total spin of the particles in A,

$$\vec{L} = \sum_{a=1}^{N_A} \vec{S}_a$$
, (156)

and generates rotations of the spins in *A*. Note that $[\vec{L}^2, J^i] = 0$ because J^i generates global rotations and \vec{L}^2 is rotationally invariant. Therefore, the center of the subalgebra is non-trivial

$$\mathcal{Z}_{GA} = \mathcal{A}_{GA} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\overline{GA}} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{L}^2], \qquad (157)$$

and is generated by the Casimir operator \vec{L}^2 of *A*. We denote its eigenvalues $\ell(\ell + 1)$ with

$$N_A \text{ even} \implies \ell_{\min} = 0, \qquad \ell_{\max} = \frac{N_A}{2}, \qquad \ell \text{ integer,}$$
 (158)

$$N_A \text{ odd} \implies \ell_{\min} = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \ell_{\max} = \frac{N_A}{2}, \qquad \ell \text{ half-integer.}$$
(159)

Using the results of Sec. 3 on subsystems from subalgebras, we find the decomposition

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\overline{GA}}^{(\ell)} \right).$$
(160)

This decomposition is useful for computing the reduction of a generic pure state of the system to the G-local subalgebra. We are interested in the reduction of a special class of states—symmetry-resolved states—and it is useful to introduce a decomposition adapted to them.

We prepare a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi\rangle = |j, \xi\rangle_{\text{sym}} |j, \chi\rangle_G$ and we are interested in measurements of *G*-local observables in *A*. In order to build a basis adapted to both the decomposition associated with $\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}} = \mathbb{C}[J^i]$ and $\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_a \cdot \vec{S}_{a'}]$, we consider the algebra generated by the union of the generating sets,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GA} = \mathbb{C}[J^i, \vec{S}_a \cdot \vec{S}_{a'}]. \tag{161}$$

Note that, using (15), this algebra can also be written in terms of the intersection of commutants,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GA} = \left((\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}})' \cap (\mathcal{A}_{GA})' \right)'. \tag{162}$$

To build the decomposition, we need its commutant and center. The commutant of $\mathcal{A}_{sym GA}$ in \mathcal{A}_K is

$$(\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GA})' = (\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}})' \cap (\mathcal{A}_{GA})' = \mathcal{A}_{G} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\overline{GA}} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_{n} \cdot \vec{S}_{n'}] \cap \mathbb{C}[J^{i}, L^{i}, S^{i}_{b}] = \mathbb{C}[\vec{J}^{2}, \vec{L}^{2}, \vec{S}_{b} \cdot \vec{S}_{b'}].$$
(163)

The center of \mathcal{A}_{svmGA} is then non-trivial,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\text{sym}GA} = \mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GA} \cap (\mathcal{A}_{\text{sym}GA})' = \mathbb{C}[\vec{J}^2, \vec{L}^2].$$
(164)

Note that the observables \vec{J}^2 and \vec{L}^2 commute,⁹ which is always the case for the center as it is an Abelian algebra by definition. Simultaneously diagonalizing the observables \vec{J}^2 and \vec{L}^2 , we find the decomposition of the Hilbert space as a sum over j and ℓ

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{j=j_{\min}}^{j_{\max}} \bigoplus_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} \right), \tag{165}$$

which can be reorganized as

$$\mathcal{H}_{N} = \bigoplus_{j=j_{\min}}^{j_{\max}} \mathcal{H}_{N}^{(j)}, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{H}_{N}^{(j)} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j)} \otimes \bigoplus_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} \right), \quad (166)$$

which provides a derivation of the expression (8) in the introduction. The Hilbert spaces appearing in (166) are defined by

$$\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} = \operatorname{Inv}_{G} \left(\mathcal{H}^{(\ell)} \otimes \underbrace{\mathcal{H}^{(1/2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(1/2)}}_{N_{A}} \right),$$
(167)

$$\mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} = \operatorname{Inv}_{G} \left(\mathcal{H}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(\ell)} \otimes \underbrace{\mathcal{H}^{(1/2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(1/2)}}_{N_{B}} \right).$$
(168)

⁹The fact that the commutator $[\vec{J}^2, \vec{L}^2] = 0$ vanishes can be quickly shown by noticing that $[J^i, \vec{L}^2] = 0$ as J^i generates rotations of the full system and \vec{L}^2 is a scalar.

Their dimensions can be computed using the general formula for the dimension of SU(2) intertwiner space (see App. A for a detailed derivation):

$$d_{\ell} \equiv \dim \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} = \frac{2\ell + 1}{\frac{N_A}{2} + \ell + 1} \binom{N_A}{\frac{N_A}{2} + \ell},$$
(169)

$$b_{j\ell} \equiv \dim \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} = \binom{N - N_A}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + j - \ell} - \frac{\frac{N - N_A}{2} - j - \ell}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + j + \ell + 1} \binom{N - N_A}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + j + \ell}.$$
 (170)

If we compare the decomposition (141) with (166), we obtain the decomposition of the Hilbert space of *G*-invariant degrees of freedom at fixed total angular momentum,

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)} = \bigoplus_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} \right), \tag{171}$$

with the adapted orthonormal basis [23]

which coincides with (144), $|j, k_r\rangle$ with k_r equal to k_a for $r = 1, ..., N_A - 2$, equal to ℓ for $r = N_A - 1$, and equal to h_b for $r = N_A, ..., N_A + N_B - 2$. From this decomposition, we also derive the relation between the dimensions d_ℓ , $b_{j\ell}$ and D_j ,

$$D_j = \sum_{\ell} d_{\ell} b_{j\ell} \,. \tag{173}$$

We can now compute the density matrix ρ_{GA} of a symmetry-resolved state $|\psi\rangle$ reduced to \mathcal{A}_{GA} . Following the general construction described in Sec. 3, the generic symmetry-resolved state in this basis is:

$$|\psi\rangle = |j,\xi\rangle \sum_{\ell} \sqrt{p_{\ell}} \sum_{k_a,h_b} \chi_{k_a,h_b}^{(\ell)} |\ell,k_a\rangle |j,\ell,h_b\rangle.$$
(174)

The density matrix of the symmetry-resolved state reduced to \mathcal{A}_{GA} is

$$\rho_{GA} = \bigoplus_{\ell} p_{\ell} \, \rho_{\ell} \,, \tag{175}$$

where

$$\rho_{\ell} = \sum_{k_a, k'_a} \sum_{h_b} \chi_{k_a, h_b}^{(\ell)} \chi_{k'_a, h_b}^{(\ell)*} |\ell, k_a\rangle \langle \ell, k'_a|.$$
(176)

This is the expression used in the next section to compute the *G*-local entanglement entropy S_{GA} .

We conclude this section with a few observations. By direct comparison of the decomposition (160) and (165), we see that the decomposition of the complement of the *GA*-Hilbert space is not the *GB*-Hilbert space as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\overline{GA}}^{(\ell)} = \bigoplus_{j} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} \right).$$
(177)

Moreover, differently from what happens in the Abelian case discussed in Sec. 4.3, we note that here states in $\mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)}$ are eigenstates of the total angular momentum \vec{J}^2 and of the angular momentum of *A*, i.e., \vec{L}^2 , but they are not in an eigenstate of the angular momentum of *B*, i.e., $\vec{J}_B^2 = (\sum_b \vec{S}_b)^2$, unless $\vec{J}^2 = 0$ in which case $\vec{J}_B^2 = \vec{L}^2$.

5.3 *G*-local entanglement entropy of symmetry-resolved states

Given a symmetry-resolved state, i.e., a state of the form (174), we can compute its density matrix reduced to the *G*-local subalgebra of observables \mathcal{A}_{GA} using the techniques of the previous section. The *G*-local entanglement entropy is then given by the general formula (29),

$$S_{GA} \equiv S(|\psi\rangle, \mathcal{A}_G, \mathcal{A}_{GA}) = -\mathrm{tr}(\rho_{GA}\log\rho_{GA})$$
(178)

$$= -\sum_{\ell} p_{\ell} \operatorname{tr}(\rho_{\ell} \log \rho_{\ell}) - \sum_{\ell} p_{\ell} \log p_{\ell}, \qquad (179)$$

where ρ_{ℓ} is the reduced density matrix in the sector ℓ and p_{ℓ} the probability of the sector, as defined in (175). We give a few examples to illustrate how S_{GA} is computed and its differences from S_{KA} :

N = 2, j = 0 — This is the singled state $|s\rangle$ of two spin-1/2 particles,

$$|s\rangle = \frac{|\uparrow\downarrow\rangle - |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle}{\sqrt{2}} \,. \tag{180}$$

As *K*-local subsystem with $N_A = 1$, we can take the first particle with the algebra of observables $\mathcal{A}_{KA} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_1]$. As usual [16], the associated entanglement entropy is $S_{KA}(|s\rangle) = \log 2$. On the other hand, if we consider the algebra of *G*-local observables of the first particle we find that it is trivial as there is no rotational invariant observable besides $\vec{S}_1^2 = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{1}{2}+1)\mathbb{1}$, i.e., $\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \{\mathbb{1}\}$ and $S_{GA}(|s\rangle) = 0$.

N = 2, j = 1 — This is the Hilbert space of the triplet state $|t_m\rangle$,

$$|t_{m}\rangle = \begin{cases} |\uparrow\uparrow\rangle, & m = +1, \\ \frac{|\uparrow\downarrow\rangle + |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, & m = 0, \\ |\downarrow\downarrow\rangle, & m = -1. \end{cases}$$
(181)

The *K*-local subsystem with $N_A = 1$ has entanglement entropy $S_{KA}(|t_{\pm}\rangle) = 0$ and $S_{KA}(|t_0\rangle) = \log 2$. On the other hand, the *G*-local entanglement entropy $S_{GA}(|t_m\rangle) = 0$ vanishes again as the subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \{1\}$ is trivial.

N = 4, j = 0 — The recoupling of N = 4 spin-1/2 particles into a scalar (j = 0) defines a two-dimensional Hilbert space spanned by the two orthogonal states

$$|\psi_0\rangle = |s\rangle_A |s\rangle_B, \qquad (182)$$

$$|\psi_1\rangle = \sum_{m=0,\pm 1} \frac{(-1)^{1-m}}{\sqrt{3}} |t_{+m}\rangle_A |t_{-m}\rangle_B, \qquad (183)$$

where we have denoted A = (1, 2) and B = (3, 4) the coupling of the four particles. The *K*-local and the *G*-local entanglement entropies of the subsystem *A* are

$$S_{KA}(|\psi_0\rangle) = 0, \qquad S_{GA}(|\psi_0\rangle) = 0,$$

$$S_{KA}(|\psi_1\rangle) = \log 3, \qquad S_{GA}(|\psi_1\rangle) = 0.$$
(184)

Note that the *K*-local entropy measures the entanglement in the magnetic degrees of freedom *m*, which results in the log 3 above. On the other hand, the *G*-local entanglement entropy for each of the two states vanishes as they are eigenstates of $(\vec{S}_1 + \vec{S}_2)^2$, which is the only non-trivial observable in $\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2]$. In fact, using the basis (172), we see that $|\psi_1\rangle$ is factorized. To show a non-trivial *G*-local entropy, we consider the superposition

$$|\psi\rangle = \sqrt{1-p} |\psi_0\rangle + \sqrt{p} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\phi} |\psi_1\rangle, \qquad (185)$$

for which we can easily compute the reduced density matrices

$$\rho_{KA} = (1-p) |s\rangle \langle s| + p \sum_{m=0,\pm 1} \frac{1}{3} |t_m\rangle \langle t_m|, \qquad (186)$$

$$\rho_{GA} = (1-p)|0\rangle\langle 0| + p|1\rangle\langle 1|, \qquad (187)$$

where the states $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ are the eigenstates with $\ell = 0, 1$ of the *G*-local observable $\vec{L}^2 = (\vec{S}_1 + \vec{S}_2)^2$. It follows that the entanglement entropies for the *K*-local and the *G*-local subalgebras are

$$S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle) = -(1-p)\log(1-p) - p\log(p/3), \qquad (188)$$

$$S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle) = -(1-p)\log(1-p) - p\log p.$$
(189)

In this simple case, the *G*-local entanglement entropy is purely due to the Shannon entropy of the sector, i.e., the last term in (179), because the subalgebra coincides with the center, $A_{GA} = A_{GB} = Z$.

N = 4, j = 1, m = +1 — The recoupling of N = 4 spin-1/2 particles into a vector (j = 1) defines the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_4^{(1)} = \mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_G^{(1)}$ of dimension 3×3 . We consider a (m = +1) symmetry-resolved state

$$|\psi\rangle = \sqrt{1-p} |\eta_1\rangle + \sqrt{p} e^{i\phi} |\eta_2\rangle, \qquad (190)$$

given by the superposition of the two orthogonal basis states with m = +1

$$|\eta_1\rangle = |s\rangle_A |t_+\rangle_B, \qquad |\eta_2\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(|t_+\rangle_A |t_0\rangle_B - |t_0\rangle_A |t_+\rangle_B \right), \tag{191}$$

where $|s\rangle$ and $|t_m\rangle$ are the singlet state and the triplet state (with the magnetic number $m = 0, \pm 1$) obtained by coupling two spin-1/2 particles. The *K*-local density matrix for the two spins in *A*, defined as usual as $\rho_{KA} = \text{Tr}_B |\psi\rangle \langle \psi|$, is

$$\rho_{KA} = (1-p)|s\rangle\langle s| + \frac{p}{2}(|t_+\rangle\langle t_+| + |t_0\rangle\langle t_0|) - \sqrt{\frac{p(1-p)}{2}}(e^{-i\phi}|s\rangle\langle t_0| + e^{+i\phi}|t_0\rangle\langle s|).$$
(192)

The non-vanishing eigenvalues of ρ_{KA} are $\{\frac{p}{2}, 1-\frac{p}{2}\}$. Therefore, *K*-local entanglement entropy is

$$S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle) = -\frac{p}{2}\log\frac{p}{2} - (1 - \frac{p}{2})\log(1 - \frac{p}{2}).$$
(193)

On the other hand, if we have only access to the rotational invariant observable of the particles in subsystem A = (1, 2), that is only the observable $\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2$, then the accessible entropy is given by the probability of outcomes $\{p, 1-p\}$,

$$S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle) = -p\log p - (1-p)\log(1-p).$$
(194)

We note that, for $\frac{2}{3} \le p \le 1$, we have that the *G*-local entropy is smaller than the *K*-local entropy, tropy, $S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle) \le S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle)$, while for $0 \le p \le \frac{2}{3}$ the *G*-local entropy is larger $S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle) \ge S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle)$. We note also another difference compared to the Abelian case (1) where the reduced density matrix is shown to be black diagonal. From (192), we see that the density matrix ρ_{KA} is not block diagonal as it has non-vanishing matrix elements $|s\rangle\langle t_0|$ that connect blocks with different ℓ . This is a generic feature of SU(2)-symmetry-resolved states.

N = 6, j = 1, m = +1 — As a last example, we illustrate the case considered in the introduction in Fig. 3. The Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_6^{(1)} = \mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_G^{(1)}$ has dimension 3×9 . We consider the subsystem of the first $N_A = 3$ particles. The *G*-local entanglement entropy is associated to the restriction of the state to the subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_{GA} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_2, \vec{S}_1 \cdot \vec{S}_3, \vec{S}_2 \cdot \vec{S}_3]$ which now is a

non-commutative algebra and therefore allows intertwiner entanglement, i.e., the first term in (179). The associated Hilbert space decomposition is

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(1)} = \bigoplus_{\ell = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(1,\ell)} \right).$$
(195)

We consider the symmetry-resolved state with m = +1 described in Fig. 3(b),

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|\psi_1\rangle + |\psi_2\rangle), \qquad (196)$$

given by the superposition of the two orthonormal $|\psi_1\rangle$ and $|\psi_2\rangle$ introduced in (11). As shown in Fig. 3(b) for p = 1/2, the *G*-local entropy of this state is $S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle) = \log 2$ while the *K*-local entropy is $S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle) = -\frac{3}{8}\log\frac{3}{8} - \frac{5}{8}\log\frac{5}{8}$. This example allows us to comment on the symmetry under the exchange of *A* with *B*. Clearly $S_{KA}(|\psi\rangle) = S_{KB}(|\psi\rangle)$. On the other hand, we note that the restriction to the subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_{GB} = \mathbb{C}[\vec{S}_4 \cdot \vec{S}_5, \vec{S}_4 \cdot \vec{S}_6, \vec{S}_5 \cdot \vec{S}_6]$ is associated with Hilbert space decomposition

$$\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(1)} = \bigoplus_{j_{B} = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j_{B})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(1, j_{B})} \right), \tag{197}$$

and $S_{GB}(|\psi\rangle) = 0$ because $|\psi\rangle$ is an eigenstate of $(\vec{S}_5 + \vec{S}_6)^2 = 0$ and $(\vec{S}_4 + \vec{S}_5 + \vec{S}_6)^2 = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{1}{2} + 1)$. This example shows concretely that, in the non-Abelian case, the commutant symmetry (39) allows an asymmetry under subsystem exchange in the *G*-local entanglement entropy, $S_{GB}(|\psi\rangle) \neq S_{GA}(|\psi\rangle)$.

5.4 Typical G-local entanglement entropy: Exact formulas

We combine the results of Sec. 2.3 on the typical entanglement entropy of a subsystem defined in terms of a subalgebra of observables, together with the results of Sec. 3.3 on symmetryresolved entanglement entropy, to derive the exact formulas for the typical *G*-local entanglement entropy for the group G = SU(2).

The average entanglement entropy for a random symmetry-resolved state in $\mathcal{H}_N^{(j)} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_G^{(j)}$, restricted to a *G*-local subsystem of N_A spin-1/2 particles is given by the formula (43), specialized to the SU(2) case:

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_j = \sum_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \varrho_\ell \,\varphi_\ell \,, \tag{198}$$

where ρ_{ℓ} and φ_{ℓ} are given in terms of the dimensions d_{ℓ} , $b_{j\ell}$, D_j defined in (146), (169), (170). The first quantity is

$$\varrho_{\ell} = \frac{d_{\ell} b_{j\ell}}{D_j}, \qquad (199)$$

and the second is

$$\varphi_{\ell} = \Psi(D_j + 1) - \Psi(\max(d_{\ell}, b_{j\ell}) + 1) - \min(\frac{d_{\ell} - 1}{2b_{j\ell}}, \frac{b_{j\ell} - 1}{2d_{\ell}}).$$
(200)

The variance $(\Delta S_{GA})^2 = \langle S_{GA}^2 \rangle_j - \langle S_{GA} \rangle_j^2$ can be written as

$$(\Delta S_{GA})^{2} = \frac{1}{D+1} \bigg(\sum_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \varrho_{\ell} \left(\varphi_{\ell}^{2} + \chi_{\ell} \right) - \Big(\sum_{\ell=\ell_{\min}}^{\ell_{\max}} \varrho_{\ell} \left(\varphi_{\ell}^{2} \right)^{2} \bigg),$$
(201)



Figure 4: (a) Page curve for the SU(2) symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in a system consisting of N = 10 spins. The average entanglement entropy $\langle S_{GA} \rangle_j$ and its dispersion $(\Delta S_{GA})_j$ are computed using the exact formulas (198)–(201) and reported as a function of the number of spins N_A in the subsystem. The Page curve with j = 1 has the largest peak entropy. The curves with j = 2, j = 0, j = 3 and j = 4 follow. The maximum spin j = 5 has $S_{GA} = 0$. The ordering of the curves reflects the dimension of the Hilbert spaces D_j . For $N_A = 1$, the *G*-local subsystem is trivial, $d_\ell = 1$, and the entropy $S_{GA} = 0$ vanishes. The Page curve is generally not symmetric under the exchange $N_A \leftrightarrow N - N_A$, except in the special case j = 0 where this exchange symmetry is present. (b) Leading order of the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in the thermodynamic limit. At this order, the entanglement entropy is symmetric under exchange $f \leftrightarrow 1 - f$. We plot the Page curve for spin densities s = 0, s = 0.4, s = 0.6, s = 0.8, s = 0.9, s = 0.95, s = 0.99, and s = 1, which corresponds to curves from the top to the bottom.

where ϱ_ℓ and φ_ℓ are given above and χ_ℓ is defined as

$$\chi_{\ell} = (d_{\ell} + b_{j\ell})\Psi'(\max(d_{\ell}, b_{j\ell}) + 1) - (D_{j} + 1)\Psi'(D_{j} + 1) - \frac{(\min(d_{\ell}, b_{j\ell}) - 1)(d_{\ell} + b_{j\ell} + \max(d_{\ell}, b_{j\ell}) - 1)}{4\max(d_{\ell}^{2}, b_{j\ell}^{2})}.$$
(202)

The formulas for average (198) and the variance (201) of the symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy of a random state are exact and can be computed from the expressions of the dimensions of the Hilbert spaces d_{ℓ} , $b_{j\ell}$, and D_j .

In Fig. 3(a), we show the average and variance compared to the statistical distribution of a sample of symmetry-resolved random states with N = 6, j = 1, m = +1 restricted to $N_A = 3$.

In Fig. 4(a), we show the exact average and variance for N = 10 and different values of j as a function of the subsystem size N_A , i.e., the Page curve [1, 2] for a symmetry-resolved system. Note the asymmetry under exchange $N_A \rightarrow N - N_A$, due to the asymmetry in the dimensions d_{ℓ} and $b_{j\ell}$ in (169)–(170), which is a generic feature of non-Abelian symmetry-resolved entanglement (see Sec. 4.2).

As discussed in (100)–(104), one can also decompose the total symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy $\langle S_{GA} \rangle_j$ in a configurational $\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{conf})} \rangle_j$ and a number contribution $\langle S_{GA}^{(\text{num})} \rangle_j$.

6 Large *N* asymptotics of the *SU*(2) typical entropy

In a lattice many-body system, it is useful to introduce intensive quantities that allow us to take a thermodynamic limit $N \rightarrow \infty$ and study the behavior of the subsystem entropy as a function of the fraction of the lattice. In this section we study the SU(2) symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in this limit.

6.1 Fixed spin density

The symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy (198) depends on the system size N, the total spin j, and the subsystem size N_A . Moreover, the expression contains a sum over the subsystem spin ℓ . We introduce intensive quantities representing the subsystem fraction f, the system spin density s, and the subsystem spin density t:

$$f = \frac{N_A}{N}, \qquad s = \frac{2j}{N}, \qquad t = \frac{2\ell}{N_A}.$$
(203)

The thermodynamic limit is defined as the limit $N \to \infty$ while keeping the intensive quantities f and s fixed. We compute the average entropy (198) and its variance (201) in this limit up to terms of order one, O(1).

First, we derive the asymptotic expressions of the dimensions d_{ℓ} , $b_{j\ell}$, and D_j in the thermodynamic limit. We use the asymptotic expansion of the binomial coefficients for $n \to \infty$ with λ fixed,

$$\binom{n}{\frac{n}{2}(1+\lambda)} = \sqrt{\frac{2|\beta''(\lambda)|}{\pi n}} e^{n\beta(\lambda)} \left(1 - \frac{1}{12n}\frac{3+\lambda^2}{1-\lambda^2} + O(n^{-2})\right), \quad (204)$$

where the function $\beta(s)$ is defined by

$$\beta(s) = -\frac{1-s}{2} \log\left(\frac{1-s}{2}\right) - \frac{1+s}{2} \log\left(\frac{1+s}{2}\right),$$
(205)

and its derivatives are

$$\beta'(s) = -\frac{1}{2} \log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right), \qquad \beta''(s) = -\frac{1}{1-s^2}.$$
(206)

The approximation (204) holds for $\lambda = O(1)$ and is useful for deriving the large-*N* asymptotics of the dimensions at fixed 0 < s < 1. This approximation is invalid in the extremal cases $j = j_{\min}$ and $j = j_{\max}$ defined in (134), and we will deal with them separately in the next section. The asymptotic form of the dimensions in terms of intensive quantities are

$$D_{j} = \frac{2s}{1+s} \sqrt{\frac{2|\beta''(s)|}{\pi N}} e^{N\beta(s)} \left(1 + \frac{1}{12N} \frac{12 - s(9-s)(3-s)}{s(1-s^{2})} + O(N^{-2}) \right),$$
(207)

$$d_{\ell} = \frac{2t}{1+t} \sqrt{\frac{2|\beta''(t)|}{\pi f N}} e^{f N \beta(t)} \left(1 + \frac{1}{12fN} \frac{12 - t(9-t)(3-t)}{t(1-t^2)} + O(N^{-2}) \right),$$
(208)

$$b_{j\ell} = \sqrt{\frac{2|\beta''(\frac{s-tf}{1-f})|}{\pi N(1-f)}} e^{(1-f)N\beta(\frac{s-tf}{1-f})} \left(1 - \frac{1}{12(1-f)N} \frac{3 + \left(\frac{s-tf}{1-f}\right)^2}{1 - \left(\frac{s-tf}{1-f}\right)^2} + O(N^{-2})\right).$$
(209)

Note that, in the asymptotic formula for $b_{j\ell}$, the second term in the exact expression (170) is exponentially small, and therefore it does not contribute to the asymptotics for 0 < s < 1 and large N. On the other hand, this approximation is invalid for s = 0, that is, when $j = j_{\min}$ which is not compatible with the scaling assumed in (203), and will be treated separately in the next section. In the thermodynamic limit, the sum over the spin ℓ becomes an integral over the spin density $\sum_{\ell} \rightarrow \int_0^1 f \frac{N}{2} dt$ and the probability distribution (199) is given by a continuous probability distribution

$$\varrho(t)dt = \frac{d_{\ell}b_{j\ell}}{D_j}f\frac{N}{2}dt = \varrho_0(t)\Big(1 + \frac{\varrho_1(t)}{N} + O(N^{-2})\Big)e^{N\left(f\beta(t) + (1-f)\beta\left(\frac{s-ft}{1-f}\right) - \beta(s)\right)}dt, \quad (210)$$

where

$$\varrho_0(t) = f \frac{N}{2} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi f (1-f)N}} \frac{(s+1)t}{s(t+1)} \sqrt{\frac{|\beta''(t)| |\beta''(\frac{s-ft}{1-f})|}{|\beta''(s)|}},$$
(211)

$$\varrho_1(t) = \frac{1}{12f} \frac{12 - t(9 - t)(3 - t)}{t(1 - t^2)} - \frac{1}{12(1 - f)} \frac{3 + \left(\frac{s - tf}{1 - f}\right)^2}{1 - \left(\frac{s - tf}{1 - f}\right)^2} - \frac{1}{12} \frac{12 - s(9 - s)(3 - s)}{s(1 - s^2)}.$$
 (212)

The limit of function φ_{ℓ} (200) is given by the lower bound (50),

$$\varphi(t) = \log \min\left(\frac{D_j}{b_{j\ell}}, \frac{D_j}{d_\ell}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \min\left(\frac{d_\ell}{b_{j\ell}}, \frac{b_{j\ell}}{d_j}\right), \tag{213}$$

and the average entanglement entropy at fixed s is given by the integral

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_s = \int_0^1 \varrho(t)\varphi(t) \,\mathrm{d}t \,. \tag{214}$$

We evaluate the integral over *t* using the Laplace approximation for large *N* (see App. B). The integral is concentrated at the critical point t = s defined as the maximum of the exponent of (210). If $f < \frac{1}{2}$, at the critical point the dimension $b_{j\ell}$ is exponentially larger than d_j . Therefore, we can ignore the second term in (213) as it is exponentially small. Similarly, at the critical point, the min in the logarithm in (213) selects the ratio $D_j/b_{j\ell}$, which allows us to write

$$\varphi(t) = N\left(\beta(s) - (1-f)\beta\left(\frac{s-ft}{1-f}\right)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\log\left(\frac{\beta''(s)}{\beta''\left(\frac{s-ft}{1-f}\right)}\right) + \log\left(\frac{2s\sqrt{1-f}}{1+s}\right) + O(N^{-1}).$$
(215)

At half-system size, f = 1/2, extra care is necessary because of a discontinuity in the integral. The dimensions satisfy the inequalities $b_{j\ell} > d_{\ell}$ for t < s, but $b_{j\ell} < d_{\ell}$ for t > s. The logarithm in (213) is discontinuous at the critical point t = s, and we have to resort to a Laplace approximation that allows for discontinuities (see App. B). There are additional contributions at order $O(\sqrt{N})$ and at order O(1). Note that, at f = 1/2, the second term in (213) is not exponentially small, but detailed analysis shows that it is of order $O(1/\sqrt{N})$ and therefore does not contribute to the thermodynamic limit. Summarizing, the average entanglement entropy for $f \le 1/2$ is:

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_{s} = \beta(s) f N - \frac{|\beta'(s)|}{\sqrt{2\pi |\beta''(s)|}} \sqrt{N} \,\delta_{f,\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{f + \log(1-f)}{2} + \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{f,\frac{1}{2}}\right) \log\left(\frac{2s}{1+s}\right) - \left(1 - f - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{f,\frac{1}{2}}\right) \frac{1-s}{2s} \log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right) + O(N^{-\frac{1}{2}}), \quad \text{for} \quad f \le \frac{1}{2},$$

$$(216)$$

and for f > 1/2

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_s = \beta(s)(1-f)N + \frac{(1-f) + \log f}{2} + (1-f)\frac{1-s}{2s}\log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right) + O(N^{-\frac{1}{2}}), \quad \text{for} \quad f > \frac{1}{2}.$$
(217)

Note that the leading order O(N) and the subleading order $O(\sqrt{N})$ are symmetric under exchange of the subsystem with its complement. However, the order O(1) term is not symmetric, $f \leftrightarrow (1 - f)$. The leading order and its dependence on the spin density *s* via the function $\beta(s)$ (205) is displayed in Fig. 4(b).

Using the same technique, we find that the variance is:

$$(\Delta S_{GA})_{s}^{2} = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \Big(f(1-f) - \frac{1}{2\pi} \delta_{f,\frac{1}{2}} \Big) \frac{(1-s)^{3/2}(s+1)^{5/2}}{8s} \Big(\log \frac{1+s}{1-s} \Big)^{2} N^{\frac{3}{2}} e^{-N\beta(s)} \Big(1 + O(N^{-1}) \Big).$$
(218)

We note that the variance is exponentially small in *N*. Moreover, at the order considered, the variance is invariant under the symmetry $f \leftrightarrow (1-f)$.

6.2 Extremal cases: j_{max} and j_{min}

In the extremal case of maximum spin, $j = j_{max} = N/2$, the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j_{max})}$ contains only one state and the dimension (146) is $D_{j_{max}} = 1$. Moreover, the composition of angular momenta constrains the spin of the subsystem A to be maximal, i.e., $\ell = \ell_{max}$, and the dimensions (169) and (170) of the factors are $d_{\ell_{max}} = 1$, $b_{j_{max}\ell_{max}} = 1$. Therefore, the unique symmetry-resolved state with $j = j_{max}$ is factorized, as the exact formula of the average and variance of the entanglement entropy confirm:

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_{j_{\text{max}}} = 0, \qquad (\Delta S_{GA})_{j_{\text{max}}}^2 = 0.$$
 (219)

The other extremal case, $j = j_{min}$, is non trivial. Let us assume that N is even so that $j_{min} = 0$. In this case, the relevant asymptotic formula for the binomial coefficient is

$$\binom{n}{\frac{n}{2}+x} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{n\pi}} e^{n\log 2} e^{-\frac{2x^2}{n}} (1+O(n^{-1})), \qquad (220)$$

that is valid for $x = O(\sqrt{n})$ and $n \to \infty$.¹⁰ In the sum (198), we first assume $\ell = O(\sqrt{N})$, motivated by the fact that it corresponds to the subsystem with the largest dimension. We then check this hypothesis a posteriori. In this limit, the dimensions of the Hilbert spaces are

$$D_0 = \sqrt{\frac{8}{\pi}} \frac{1}{N^{3/2}} e^{N \log 2} \left(1 + O(N^{-1}) \right), \tag{221}$$

$$d_{\ell} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \frac{4\ell}{(fN)^{3/2}} e^{fN\log 2} e^{-2\frac{\ell^2}{fN}} (1 + O(N^{-1})).$$
(222)

Note that, for j = 0, the dimensions $b_{0\ell}$ and d_{ℓ} are mapped into each other by sending $f \leftrightarrow 1-f$. This is an exact property of (169) and (170) which in the asymptotic limit results into the expression

$$b_{0\ell} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \frac{4\ell}{((1-f)N)^{3/2}} e^{(1-f)N\log 2} e^{-2\frac{\ell^2}{(1-f)N}} (1+O(N^{-1})).$$
(223)

It is useful to introduce the rescaled variable

$$u = \sqrt{\frac{2}{f(1-f)N}} \ell$$
, (224)

which simplifies the calculation of the integral. The probability distribution (199) in the thermodynamic limit becomes the continuous distribution

$$\varrho(u) du = \frac{4}{\sqrt{\pi}} u^2 e^{-u^2} \left(1 + O(N^{-1}) \right) du \,. \tag{225}$$

The sum over the spin ℓ becomes an integral over the positive real line in the thermodynamic limit. It is worth noticing that (225) is independent of the system's parameters N and f at the leading order and is normalized at all orders. The calculation of the average entropy is straightforward. If $f < \frac{1}{2}$, the dimension $b_{0\ell}$ is exponentially larger than d_{ℓ} , therefore (213) is just given by the logarithmic term. If $f = \frac{1}{2}$, then $b_{0\ell} = d_{\ell}$ and the second term in (213) contributes a $-\frac{1}{2}$ correction. Therefore,

$$\varphi(u) = f N \log 2 - \frac{1}{2} \log N - \frac{1}{2} \log f - \frac{1}{2} \log 2 + \log(1 - f) + u^2 f - \log u - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{f, \frac{1}{2}} + O(N^{-1}).$$
(226)

¹⁰Note that here we cannot use (204) where $\lambda = O(1)$.

We obtain the average entanglement entropy by performing the integral

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_0 = \int_0^\infty \varrho(u)\varphi(u)\,\mathrm{d}u\,,$$
 (227)

keeping all terms up to O(1). Summarizing, the average entanglement entropy for $f \leq \frac{1}{2}$ is

$$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_0 = f N \log 2 - \frac{1}{2} \log N - \frac{1}{2} \log f + \log(1 - f) + (\frac{1}{2} - f) \log 2 + \frac{3}{2} f - 1 - \frac{\gamma_E}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{f, \frac{1}{2}} + O(N^{-1}).$$
(228)

The average entropy for f > 1/2 can be obtained via the exact symmetry $f \leftrightarrow (1-f)$ that applies to the case of j = 0. The calculation for the variance (201) is similar, and we find

$$(\Delta S_{GA})_0^2 = \frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{4} \left(f\left(\frac{3}{2}f - 1\right) + \frac{\pi^2}{8} - 1 + \frac{1}{4}\delta_{f,\frac{1}{2}} \right) N^{\frac{3}{2}} e^{-N\log^2} \left(1 + O(N^{-1}) \right),$$
(229)

for $f \le 1/2$, and the formula for f > 1/2 can again be obtained via the exact symmetry $f \leftrightarrow (1-f)$ that applies to the case of j = 0.

Furthermore, we comment on the equipartition (or lack of equipartition) of entanglement entropy in the thermodynamic limit for the non-Abelian symmetry SU(2), generalizing the discussion in [15] and [6] for the U(1) case. By equipartition of entanglement, one means that the entropy $\langle S_{GA}^{(\ell)} \rangle_j$ is independent of ℓ in some limit. For generic spin j (Sec. 6.1), we found in (215) that at the leading order at fixed subsystem charge ℓ , the entanglement entropy is $\langle S_{GA}^{(\ell)} \rangle_j \approx N\left(\beta(s) - (1-f)\beta\left(\frac{s-ft}{1-f}\right)\right)$ with s = 2j/N and $t = 2\ell/N_A$. Therefore, we conclude that there is no equipartition of entanglement entropy, as the leading order in N depends explicitly on the subsystem charge ℓ . This result extends the observation of [6] of lack of equipartition in the thermodynamic limit to the non-Abelian case. Furthermore, following the argument in [6], we emphasize the importance of the order of limits. If ℓ is fixed before taking the limit $N \to \infty$, using the expansion $\beta\left(\frac{s-ft}{1-f}\right) = \beta\left(\frac{s}{1-f}\right) - \beta'\left(\frac{s}{1-f}\right) \frac{ft}{1-f} + O(t^2)$, we obtain instead $\langle S_{GA}^{(\ell)} \rangle_j \approx N\left(\beta(s) - (1-f)\beta\left(\frac{s}{1-f}\right)\right)$. This result matches the behavior found [15] for the U(1) case, with the leading order independent of ℓ and the equipartition of entanglement entropy restored.

Interestingly, in the j = 0 case, using (224) and (226), we find that at the leading order the entanglement entropy at fixed subsystem charge ℓ is $\langle S_{GA}^{(\ell)} \rangle_0 \approx f N \log 2$. As this quantity is independent of the subsystem charge, we conclude that in this case, there is equipartition of entanglement for all ℓ .

6.3 Comparison of G-local and K-local asymptotics

The asymptotics of the average *K*-local entanglement entropy was studied in [21]. The system considered is the same as the one described here in Sec. 5.1, with the additional assumption of vanishing magnetization, m = 0, to select symmetry-resolved states. Using a combination of analytical and numerical methods, asymptotic formulas for the thermodynamic limit $N \rightarrow \infty$ at fixed *f* and *s* were studied. We compare these results for the ones obtained here in Sec. 6.1–6.2 for the *G*-local entanglement entropy of the same symmetry-resolved states.

For maximal spin $j_{max} = N/2$, i.e., for the case s = 1, the Hilbert space takes the form

$$\mathcal{H}_{N}^{(j_{\max})} = \mathcal{H}_{\text{sym}}^{(j_{\max})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell_{\max})} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j_{\max},\ell_{\max})}, \qquad (230)$$

i.e., in the decomposition (166) there is a single allowed value of ℓ , and the dimensions are $\dim \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell_{\max})} = 1$, $\dim \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j_{\max},\ell_{\max})} = 1$, and $\dim \mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j_{\max})} = N + 1$. As a result, the average *G*-local entropy necessarily vanishes (219) because any symmetry-resolved state in this sector

has zero entanglement between *G*-local degrees of freedom. On the other hand, the *K*-local entanglement entropy also measures the entanglement in magnetic degrees of freedom m_A at fixed $m = m_A + m_B$ in $\mathcal{H}_{sym}^{(j_{max})}$, which are not *G*-local. This *K*-local entanglement results in an average entropy that scales as $\frac{1}{2} \log N$. The comparison of the two different scalings found in [21] and in Sec. 6.2 is shown in the table:

$j = j_{\max}$	N	$\sqrt{N}\delta_{f,rac{1}{2}}$	log N	1	$\delta_{f,\frac{1}{2}}$	
$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_{j_{\max}}$	0	0	0	0	0	(231)
$\langle S_{KA} \rangle_{j_{\max},m=0}$	0	0	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}\log\frac{\pi ef(1-f)}{2}$	0	

For minimum spin, j = 0 (assuming *N* even), i.e., for the case s = 0, the leading order O(N) of the *K*-local and *G*-local average entropies coincide. There is again a difference at order $O(\log N)$ and at order O(1) (first computed in [27] for the *K*-local entropy). A comparison of the contributions found in [21] and in Sec. 6.2 is shown in the table:

<i>j</i> = 0	N	$\sqrt{N}\delta_{f,rac{1}{2}}$	log N	1	$\delta_{f,rac{1}{2}}$	
$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_0$	$f \log 2$	0	$-\frac{1}{2}$	$a_{GA}(f)$	$-\frac{1}{2}$	(232)
$\langle S_{KA} \rangle_0$	$f \log 2$	0	0	$a_{KA}(f)$	$-\frac{1}{2}$	

where

$$a_{KA}(f) = \begin{cases} \frac{3}{2}f + \frac{3}{2}\log(1-f), & f \le 1/2, \\ f \longleftrightarrow (1-f), & f > 1/2, \end{cases}$$

$$a_{GA}(f) = \begin{cases} \frac{3}{2}f + \log(1-f) - \frac{1}{2}\log f + (\frac{1}{2}-f)\log(2) - 1 - \frac{\gamma_E}{2}, & f \le 1/2, \\ f \longleftrightarrow (1-f), & f > 1/2. \end{cases}$$
(233)

We note the symmetry $f \leftrightarrow (1 - f)$, which is an exact symmetry for j = 0.

For spin *j* of order O(N), i.e., fixed spin density s = 2j/N with 0 < s < 1, the asymptotics of the *K*-local average entropy studied in [21] and the *G*-local average entropy derived in Sec. 6.1 agree at order O(N) and $O(\sqrt{N})$. A difference again arises at order $O(\log N)$ and O(1), as summarized in the table:

0 < <i>s</i> < 1	N	$\sqrt{N}\delta_{f,rac{1}{2}}$	log N	1	$\delta_{f,rac{1}{2}}$	
$\langle S_{GA} \rangle_s$	$\beta(s)f$	$-\frac{ \beta'(s) }{\sqrt{2\pi \beta''(s) }}$	0	$b_{GA}(f,s)$	$c_{GA}(s)$	(235)
$\langle S_{KA} \rangle_{s,m=0}$	$\beta(s)f$	$-\frac{ \beta'(s) }{\sqrt{2\pi \beta''(s) }}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$b_{KA}(f,s)$	0	

where $\beta(s)$, $\beta'(s)$, $\beta''(s)$ are given by (205)–(206), and

$$b_{KA}(f,s) = \begin{cases} \frac{f + \log(1-f)}{2} - \frac{1-2f(1-s)}{2s} \log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right) + \log\frac{2s^{3/2}}{\sqrt{1-s^2}} + \frac{1}{2}\log\frac{\pi ef(1-f)}{2}, & f \le 1/2, \\ f \longleftrightarrow (1-f), & f > 1/2, \end{cases}$$
(236)

$$b_{GA}(f,s) = \begin{cases} \frac{f + \log(1-f)}{2} - (1-f)\frac{1-s}{2s}\log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right) + \log\left(\frac{2s}{1+s}\right), & f \le 1/2, \\ \frac{(1-f) + \log f}{2} + (1-f)\frac{1-s}{2s}\log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right), & f > 1/2, \end{cases}$$
(237)

 $c_{GA}(f,s) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1-s}{2s} \log\left(\frac{1+s}{1-s}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \log\left(\frac{2s}{1+s}\right).$ (238)

We note that the asymmetry of the *G*-local average entropy under subsystem exchange, $f \leftrightarrow (1-f)$, discussed in Sec. 5.4 and Sec. 6.1 arises only at order O(1), as shown explicitly in (237).

Additionally, we observe that in all the cases considered here, we find that the average *K*-local entropy studied in [21] and the average *G*-local entropy derived here satisfy:

$$\langle S_{KA} \rangle - \langle S_{GA} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \log N + O(1).$$
(239)

The difference can be attributed to the entanglement in the magnetic degrees of freedom probed by K-local observables, as discussed in (231).

7 Discussion

This paper introduces a mathematical framework for symmetry-resolved entanglement with a non-Abelian symmetry group G. The framework relies on the notion of subsystem defined operationally in terms of a subalgebra of observables (Sec. 2). In the presence of a non-Abelian symmetry, symmetry-resolved observables that are G-invariant determine symmetry-resolved states that can be prepared and measured by these observables, together with a decomposition of the Hilbert space that generalizes the familiar notions of direct sum over Abelian charges and of tensor product over independent subsystems (Sec. 3). The framework is general and does not require a built-in notion of locality or the choice of a Hamiltonian. Once we introduce a notion of locality, a distinction between K-local and G-local observables arises: kinematical observables in a many-body system are naturally local but, in general, are not invariant under transformations of the group G. On the other hand, invariant observables are generally non-local. G-local observables are both local and G-invariant. In various physical settings, they are the only accessible observables defining a symmetry-resolved subsystem. Symmetryresolved entanglement entropy is defined here as the entropy S_{GA} of symmetry-resolved states restricted to a symmetry-resolved subsystem (Sec. 4). To illustrate this general framework, we considered the example of a system invariant under the group G = SU(2), computed the exact average entanglement entropy and its variance for random symmetry-resolved states (Sec. 5) and studied its Page curve in the thermodynamic limit (Sec. 6).

In the case of an Abelian symmetry, such as the group G = U(1), the construction presented here reduces to known results [4–8] because the relation (110) significantly simplifies the symmetry-resolved decomposition. In particular, in the analysis of symmetry-resolved entanglement [13–15], the block-diagonal form of the reduced density matrix with U(1) symmetry plays a key role. In fact, the notion of entanglement asymmetry associated with a projected density matrix has been proposed as a measure of symmetry breaking [64]. In the non-Abelian case, the block-diagonal form (77) arises once one identifies the generalization (74) of symmetry-resolved subsystems. The relevant expressions for the SU(2) case are (175) and (166), which are non-trivial for excited states with $j \neq 0$. It would be interesting to use this formulation to extend the analysis of entanglement asymmetry as a probe of SU(2) symmetry breaking [64].

The Page curve was first introduced in [1] as a measure of the typical entanglement entropy of a random pure state without any constraints. The distribution of the typical entropy in the presence of an additive constraint (corresponding to an Abelian symmetry) was introduced in [2], where an exact formula for the average and the variance is given. In this paper, we derived exact formulas for the average and variance of the distribution of the entanglement entropy of random pure states with non-Abelian symmetry group *G*, (43)–(44)–(78). When the results of [2] for an Abelian symmetry are applied to the thermodynamic limit of a many-body system, the average over the distribution reproduces a volume law $V \sim N$ for



Figure 5: Quantum polyhedra provide a concrete example of SU(2) symmetryresolved states that can be probed only using *G*-local observables that measure their intrinsic geometry. Each spin corresponds to a quantum plane of fixed area, and the SU(2) invariance in the coupling of angular momenta corresponds to the closure of the faces of the polyhedron [106, 107].

the entanglement entropy [4–8]. Moreover, a \sqrt{V} correction arises at half-system size because of the Abelian constraint. This correction was first identified analytically and observed numerically in [5], then explained in terms of energy conservation in [109] and derived from number conservation in [4]. A global non-Abelian symmetry, such as SU(2), also results in a leading-order volume-law entanglement entropy, together with a square-root-volume correction at half-system size, as first found in [21] and derived in Sec. 6 from the asymptotics of the exact formulas for the typical entropy (See (235) for a comparison). The coefficient (205) of the volume-law scaling depends on the spin density j/V, which can be generalized to the densities q_k/V for the non-Abelian charges, i.e., the rank(G) Casimir operators of a general compact semisimple Lie group G. Moreover, at order O(1) in the thermodynamic limit, an asymmetry under subsystem exchange arises, $f \leftrightarrow (1-f)$, where $f = V_A/V$ is the subsystemvolume fraction. This is a new feature of non-Abelian symmetry-resolved entanglement that we discuss in Sec. 4.2 for a general group G, and illustrate in (196) for a small system and in (237) for a many-body system in the thermodynamic limit. While for a global symmetry, this phenomenon is subleading in the thermodynamic limit, it would be interesting to investigate its consequences in the case of a local symmetry and its impact on the estimate of the Page time in black hole evaporation [24–26, 110–112].

The results of this paper are general and do not depend on the choice of a specific Hamiltonian. They depend only on the structure of the Hilbert space and on the representation of the symmetry group G. This group can be understood as a symmetry of the dynamics, such as the Hamiltonian (2) discussed in the introduction as a motivation. Entanglement in eigenstates of a specific quantum-chaotic Hamiltonian with Abelian symmetry group G = U(1) is studied in [9, 10] for the spin-1/2 XXZ chain and in [11, 12] for the XXZ model and the mixed-field Ising model with a constrained energy window. Remarkably, they show that the distribution of the entanglement entropy of mid-spectrum energy eigenstates, computed numerically, agrees with the analytical distribution found in [2]. We conjecture that the distribution $P(S_{GA})$ with average and variance (43)-(44)-(78) found in this paper (See Fig. 3(a)) matches the distribution of the entanglement entropy of energy eigenstates of quantum-chaotic Hamiltonians with non-Abelian symmetry group G, restricted to G-local subsystems. It would be interesting to test this conjecture numerically, extending the state-of-the-art exact diagonalization of [9–12] to quantum-chaotic Hamiltonians with a non-Abelian symmetry, such as the random Heisenberg model (2) and the Heisenberg model on a lattice with local interactions [18], as done in [20, 21] for SU(2). This conjecture is of direct relevance to recent developments in nonAbelian eigenstate thermalization [19–21], thermodynamics with noncommuting conserved charges [27, 89–91], and quantum many-body scars [95, 96]. It would also be interesting to extend our framework to the analysis of quantum systems near criticality, random systems where the entanglement entropy behaves effectively as in critical systems [113], the case of WZW models and $SU(2)_k$ symmetry [14, 85–87] and to the case of Virasoro symmetry in a conformal field theory [88], going beyond the special case of the vacuum state.

Another new phenomenon that arises in the non-Abelian case is the distinction (88) between *K*-local and *G*-local subsystems. The notion of *G*-local observables plays an effective role in systems with a gapped Hamiltonian and selection rules that restrict the accessible observables to multiplets in the energy spectrum (See Fig. 1). *G*-local observables also play a fundamental role in systems with an intrinsic symmetry that constrains the accessible observables [47–52], as it is the case for quantum reference frames where one adopts an intrinsic perspective [114–119]. Another example where *G*-local observables play a central role is the case of the quantum geometry of a polyhedron [106, 107]. The *G*-local observables $\vec{S}_a \cdot \vec{S}_b$ described in Fig. 1 measure the angle between the faces of the quantum polyhedron, shown in Fig. 5 for different sectors of spin *j*.

It would be interesting to derive also the exact formulas for the average and the variance of the probability distribution $P(S_{KA})$ for *K*-local observables (See Fig. 3). In [21], the asymptotics of the average was computed for a spin system using a combination of analytical and numerical techniques, and in (239) we observed that the averages of S_{KA} and S_{GA} differ at order log-volume in the thermodynamic limit.

The framework introduced in this paper applies both to groups *G* that act globally on the system—a rigid symmetry—and to groups $G^{\times N}$ that act locally at the *N* nodes of a lattice, i.e., a lattice gauge symmetry [41–43]. In this case, we expect that the new features of non-Abelian symmetry-resolved entanglement play a central role, and it would be interesting to explore their effect on the Page curve in lattice gauge theory [120] and spin-network states in loop quantum gravity [44–46, 121–123].

In this paper, we assumed a finite-dimensional Hilbert space, but the results presented apply directly to each symmetry-resolved sector that is a finite-dimensional subspace of a Hilbert space that can be infinite-dimensional. It would be interesting to extend the analysis presented here to quantum field theory [35–39] where, in a finite volume and at fixed energy, the microcanonical sectors of the Hilbert space have finite dimension and the Page curve has been argued to reproduce black-body thermodynamics [2]. Finally, the Page curve was initially introduced as a tool to identify the non-perturbative time scales of black hole evaporation [25,26]. It would be interesting to apply the methods introduced in this paper to compute the Page curve for the entanglement entropy of the subalgebra of gravitational news [124], symmetry-resolved with respect to the asymptotic symmetries of a black hole at fixed mass and spin.

Acknowledgments

We thank Lucas Hackl and Marcos Rigol for many useful discussions.

Funding information EB acknowledges support from the National Science Foundation, Grant No. PHY-2207851. This work was made possible through the support of the ID# 62312 grant from the John Templeton Foundation, as part of the project "The Quantum Information Structure of Spacetime" (QISS). The opinions expressed in this work are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the John Templeton Foundation. PD thanks the Cross-Consortium visiting program of the QISS Project for supporting his stay at the IGC, where the first part of this work was done. EB also thanks the Cross-Consortium visiting program of the QISS Project for supporting his stay at the IQOQI. RK thanks the Blaumann Foundation for support to participate in the QISS 2023 School where preliminary results of this project were first presented.

A Dimension of SU(2) intertwiner spaces

In this section we give a derivation of the dimension of the Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)}$, $\mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)}$, and $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{(j)}$ based on the calculation of the dimension of the *SU*(2) invariant spaces

$$v(j_1,\ldots,j_L) = \dim \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}^{(j_1)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(j_L)}).$$
(A.1)

These invariant spaces, also known as intertwiners, are well studied in loop quantum gravity [44, 45], where they are the fundamental building blocks for describing quantum geometries [106, 107]. Using techniques typical of intertwiner calculations [23], we write the projector to intertwiner space,

$$P : \mathcal{H}^{(j_1)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(j_L)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Inv}_G(\mathcal{H}^{(j_1)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(j_L)}),$$
(A.2)

via group averaging

$$P = \int_{SU(2)} D^{(j_1)}(g) \otimes \cdots \otimes D^{(j_L)}(g) \,\mathrm{d}g\,, \qquad (A.3)$$

where $D^{(j)}(g)^{m}{}_{m'}$ are Wigner matrices for the representation with spin *j* and d*g* is the Haar measure for the group SU(2). The dimension of the SU(2)-invariant space can then be computed as the trace of the identity in this space or, equivalently, the trace of the projector Tr*P*, i.e., *v* is given by the integral

$$\nu(j_1,...,j_L) = \int_{SU(2)} \chi^{(j_1)}(g) \cdots \chi^{(j_L)}(g) \, \mathrm{d}g \,, \tag{A.4}$$

where $\chi^{(j)}(g) = \text{Tr}D^{(j)}(g)$ is the character of the representation with spin *j*. We compute the integral using the class-angle parametrization $g = h e^{i\theta\sigma_z} h^{-1}$ of a group element, which results in the character $\chi^{(j)}(g) = \frac{\sin(2j+1)\theta}{\sin\theta}$ expressed as a function of the class angle θ . The Haar measure for class functions $\psi(g) = f(\theta)$ reduces to $\int dg = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} (\sin\theta)^2 d\theta$.

This paper uses the dimension v with N spin-1/2 and one spin-j. After a few manipulations with elementary trigonometric identities, we find

$$\nu(\frac{1}{2},...,\frac{1}{2},j) = \frac{2^N}{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} (\sin\theta) (\cos\theta)^N (\sin(2j+1)\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,. \tag{A.5}$$

Using the residue theorem, we evaluate the integral (A.5) as a contour integral on the unit circle of the complex plane. The only contribution to the integral comes from the pole in the origin

$$\nu(\frac{1}{2},\ldots,\frac{1}{2},j) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Res}_{z=0}\left(\frac{1}{z}\left(\frac{1}{z}-z\right)\left(\frac{1}{z^{2j+1}}-z^{2j+1}\right)\left(\frac{1}{z}+z\right)^{N}\right).$$
 (A.6)

We expand the binomial $(\frac{1}{z} + z)^N = \sum_{k=0}^N {N \choose k} z^{2k-N}$ and read the residue from the coefficient of $\frac{1}{z}$. If N + 2j is odd, the integral vanishes. If N + 2j is even, we find

$$\nu(\frac{1}{2},\ldots,\frac{1}{2},j) = \frac{2j+1}{\frac{N}{2}+j+1} \binom{N}{\frac{N}{2}+j}.$$
(A.7)



This is the expression also found, for instance, in [20,21] and derived via combinatorial methods.

Using the intertwiner methods discussed above, we can now compute the dimension ν with $N - N_A$ spin-1/2, one spin-*j*, and one spin- ℓ which appears in the formula for the non-Abelian symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy. We find

$$\nu(\frac{1}{2},...,\frac{1}{2},j,\ell) = \frac{2^{N-N_A+1}}{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} (\cos\theta)^{N-N_A} (\sin(2j+1)\theta) (\sin(2\ell+1)\theta) d\theta$$
(A.8)

$$= \binom{N - N_A}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + j - \ell} - \frac{\frac{N - N_A}{2} - j - \ell}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + j + \ell + 1} \binom{N - N_A}{\frac{N - N_A}{2} + j + \ell}.$$
(A.9)

We note that this formula reduces to the expression (A.7) for $\ell = 0$ or j = 0.

To summarize, we have

$$D_j = \dim \mathcal{H}_G^{(j)} = \nu(\frac{1}{2}, \dots, \frac{1}{2}, j),$$
(A.10)

$$d_{\ell} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GA}^{(\ell)} = \nu(\frac{1}{2}, \dots, \frac{1}{2}, \ell),$$
(A.11)

$$b_{j\ell} = \dim \mathcal{H}_{GB}^{(j,\ell)} = \nu(\frac{1}{2}, \dots, \frac{1}{2}, j, \ell).$$
(A.12)

B Laplace approximation and discontinuities

In this section, we review the asymptotic expansion of integrals using the Laplace method [125] and extend this method to the presence of discontinuities. We derive an asymptotic expansion for $N \gg 1$ of integrals of the form

$$I = \int_{K} h(x) e^{Ng(x)} dx, \qquad (B.1)$$

where $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ and h(x) and g(x) are two real-valued functions defined on K such that the integral is well defined for large enough N. We first assume that the functions h and g are smooth on K. Then, we present the formula for the case with h continuous but with a discontinuous first derivative at a point. We assume that the function g has a global maximum at x_0 in K where the gradient vanishes, $g'(x_0) = 0$, and the function also vanishes at the maximum $g(x_0) = 0$. The integral is approximated asymptotically by

$$I = h(x_0) \sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}} \left(1 + \frac{C_1}{N} + o\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)\right),$$
 (B.2)

where

$$C_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{h''(x_0)}{h(x_0)g''(x_0)} + \frac{1}{8} \frac{g''''(x_0)h(x_0)}{h(x_0)g''(x_0)^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{g'''(x_0)h'(x_0)}{h(x_0)g''(x_0)^2} - \frac{5}{24} \frac{g'''(x_0)^2h(x_0)}{h(x_0)g''(x_0)^3}.$$
 (B.3)

The approximation (B.2) relies on three main observations.

- 1. Only the immediate neighborhood of x_0 contributes to the integral.
- 2. We expand the function g(x) around x_0 , and we approximate the exponential part of the integrand with a narrow Gaussian $e^{-\frac{N}{2}g''(x_0)(x-x_0)^2}$. This confirms the first assumption.
- 3. We expand the remaining part of the integrand around x_0 and extend the integral to the whole real line.

The integrals of terms of the expansion with the Gaussian (x_0 is a maximum, so $g''(x_0) < 0$) are given by

$$M^{(p)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (x - x_0)^p \, \mathrm{e}^{N \frac{g''(x_0)}{2} (x - x_0)^2} \mathrm{d}x = \begin{cases} 0, & p \text{ odd,} \\ \sqrt{2\pi} (p - 1)!! \left(-\frac{1}{Ng''(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{p+1}{2}}, & p \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$
(B.4)

If we are interested in the leading order or (B.2), expanding the integrand up to order O(1) and combining with M_0 is sufficient

$$h(x_0)M^{(0)} = h(x_0)\sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}}.$$
(B.5)

However, to compute the next-to-leading order (B.3), we have to expand the integrand up to order $O(x - x_0)^6$. The relevant terms are

$$\begin{split} h''(x_0)M^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{N}\frac{1}{2}\frac{h''(x_0)}{g''(x_0)}\sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}}\,,\\ N\left(\frac{1}{24}g''''(x_0)h(x_0) + \frac{1}{6}g'''(x_0)h'(x_0)\right)M^{(4)} &= \frac{1}{N}\left(\frac{1}{8}\frac{g'''(x_0)}{g''(x_0)^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{g'''(x_0)h'(x_0)}{h(x_0)g''(x_0)^2}\right)\sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}}\,,\\ N^2\frac{1}{72}g'''(x_0)^2h(x_0)M^{(6)} &= -\frac{1}{N}\frac{5}{24}\frac{g'''(x_0)^2}{g''(x_0)^3}\sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}}\,. \end{split}$$

Collecting them together, we obtain (B.3).

In the derivations in Sec. 6, we need to compute integrals of the form (B.1) with a function h that is not continuous in x_0 . For simplicity, we will assume that g(x) is still smooth in x_0 . We follow the same strategy, expanding the integrand around x_0 and separating the integrals in $x < x_0$ and $x > x_0$. The split Gaussian integrals are such that

$$\int_{x_0}^{\infty} (x - x_0)^p e^{N \frac{g''(x_0)}{2} (x - x_0)^2} dx = (-1)^p \int_{-\infty}^{x_0} (x - x_0)^p e^{N \frac{g''(x_0)}{2} (x - x_0)^2} dx, \quad (B.6)$$

and

$$\tilde{M}^{(p)} = \int_{x_0}^{\infty} (x - x_0)^p \, \mathrm{e}^{N \frac{g''(x_0)}{2} (x - x_0)^2} \mathrm{d}x = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{2\pi} (\frac{p-1}{2})! \left(-\frac{1}{Ng''(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{p+1}{2}}, & p \text{ odd,} \\ \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{2\pi} (p-1)!! \left(-\frac{1}{Ng''(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{p+1}{2}}, & p \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$
(B.7)

The leading order of the Laplace approximation is similar to the one found earlier,

$$\left(h(x_0^-) + h(x_0^+)\right)\tilde{M}^{(0)} = \frac{h(x_0^-) + h(x_0^+)}{2}\sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}}.$$
(B.8)

Here, we denote with $h(x_0^{\pm})$ the right/left limit of the function *h* in x_0 . If *h* is continuous in x_0 , the formula (B.8) reduces to (B.5). The next-to-leading order term is

$$\left(h'(x_0^-) - h'(x_0^+)\right)\tilde{M}^{(1)} = \frac{h'(x_0^-) - h'(x_0^+)}{2}\sqrt{2\pi}\frac{-1}{Ng''(x_0)},\tag{B.9}$$

which is, in general, non-vanishing if the first derivative of h is discontinuous in x_0 . The calculation for the next-to-next-leading order term is similar. To summarize, if the function h is discontinuous at the maximum x_0 of g, the Laplace approximation for the integral (B.1) is

$$I = \frac{h(x_0^-) + h(x_0^+)}{2} \sqrt{-\frac{2\pi}{Ng''(x_0)}} \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{C}_{1/2}}{\sqrt{N}} + \frac{\tilde{C}_1}{N} + o\left(\frac{1}{N}\right)\right),$$
(B.10)

where

$$\tilde{C}_{1/2} = \frac{h'(x_0^-) - h'(x_0^+)}{h(x_0^-) + h(x_0^+)} \sqrt{-\frac{2}{N\pi g''(x_0)}},$$
(B.11)

and

$$\tilde{C}_1 = \frac{h(x_0^-)C_1(x_0^-) + h(x_0^+)C_1(x_0^+)}{h(x_0^-) + h(x_0^+)},$$
(B.12)

where we denote by $C_1(x_0^{\pm})$ the expression (B.3) computed (as a limit) in x_0^{\pm} . Therefore, a discontinuity results in a $O(1/\sqrt{N})$ correction in the asymptotic expansion.

References

- [1] D. N. Page, Average entropy of a subsystem, Phys. Rev. Lett. **71**, 1291 (1993), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.1291.
- [2] E. Bianchi and P. Donà, Typical entanglement entropy in the presence of a center: Page curve and its variance, Phys. Rev. D 100, 105010 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.105010.
- [3] R. Gilmore, *Lie groups, physics, and geometry*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780521884006 (2008), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511791390.
- [4] E. Bianchi, L. Hackl, M. Kieburg, M. Rigol and L. Vidmar, Volume-law entanglement entropy of typical pure quantum states, PRX Quantum 3, 030201 (2022), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.3.030201.
- [5] L. Vidmar and M. Rigol, Entanglement entropy of eigenstates of quantum chaotic Hamiltonians, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 220603 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.220603.
- [6] S. Murciano, P. Calabrese and L. Piroli, Symmetry-resolved Page curves, Phys. Rev. D 106, 046015 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.106.046015.
- [7] P. H. C. Lau, T. Noumi, Y. Takii and K. Tamaoka, *Page curve and symmetries*, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 015 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2022)015.
- [8] Y. Yauk, R. Patil, Y. Zhang, M. Rigol and L. Hackl, *Typical entanglement entropy in systems with particle-number conservation*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2310.19862.
- [9] M. Kliczkowski, R. Świętek, L. Vidmar and M. Rigol, Average entanglement entropy of midspectrum eigenstates of quantum-chaotic interacting Hamiltonians, Phys. Rev. E 107, 064119 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.107.064119.
- [10] R. Świętek, M. Kliczkowski, L. Vidmar and M. Rigol, *Eigenstate entanglement entropy in the integrable spin-* $\frac{1}{2}$ *XYZ model*, Phys. Rev. E **109**, 024117 (2024), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.109.024117.
- [11] J. F. Rodriguez-Nieva, C. Jonay and V. Khemani, Quantifying quantum chaos through microcanonical distributions of entanglement, Phys. Rev. X 14, 031014 (2024), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.14.031014.
- [12] C. M. Langlett and J. F. Rodriguez-Nieva, Entanglement patterns of quantum chaotic Hamiltonians with a scalar U(1) charge, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2403.10600.

- [13] N. Laflorencie and S. Rachel, Spin-resolved entanglement spectroscopy of critical spin chains and Luttinger liquids, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. P11013 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/11/P11013.
- [14] M. Goldstein and E. Sela, Symmetry-resolved entanglement in many-body systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120, 200602 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.200602.
- [15] J. C. Xavier, F. C. Alcaraz and G. Sierra, *Equipartition of the entanglement entropy*, Phys. Rev. B 98, 041106 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.98.041106.
- [16] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang, Quantum computation and quantum information, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9781107002173 (2012), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511976667.
- [17] S. Sachdev, Quantum phases of matter, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9781009212717 (2023), doi:10.1017/9781009212717.
- [18] H. Tasaki, Physics and mathematics of quantum many-body systems, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783030412647 (2020), doi:10.1007/978-3-030-41265-4.
- [19] C. Murthy, A. Babakhani, F. Iniguez, M. Srednicki and N. Yunger Halpern, Non-Abelian eigenstate thermalization hypothesis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130, 140402 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.130.140402.
- [20] J. D. Noh, Eigenstate thermalization hypothesis in two-dimensional XXZ model with or without SU(2) symmetry, Phys. Rev. E 107, 014130 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.107.014130.
- [21] R. Patil, L. Hackl, G. R. Fagan and M. Rigol, Average pure-state entanglement entropy in spin systems with SU(2) symmetry, Phys. Rev. B 108, 245101 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.108.245101.
- [22] F. Iniguez and M. Srednicki, *Microcanonical truncations of observables in quantum chaotic systems*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2305.15702.
- [23] D. A. Varshalovich, A. N. Moskalev and V. K. Khersonskii, Quantum theory of angular momentum, World Scientific, Singapore, ISBN 9789971501075 (1988), doi:10.1142/0270.
- [24] S. W. Hawking, Breakdown of predictability in gravitational collapse, Phys. Rev. D 14, 2460 (1976), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.14.2460.
- [25] D. N. Page, Information in black hole radiation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 3743 (1993), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.3743.
- [26] D. Marolf, The black hole information problem: Past, present, and future, Rep. Prog. Phys. 80, 092001 (2017), doi:10.1088/1361-6633/aa77cc.
- [27] S. Majidy, A. Lasek, D. A. Huse and N. Yunger Halpern, Non-Abelian symmetry can increase entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. B 107, 045102 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.107.045102.
- [28] P. Zanardi, D. A. Lidar and S. Lloyd, Quantum tensor product structures are observable induced, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 060402 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.92.060402.
- [29] D. Petz, *Quantum information theory and quantum statistics*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, ISBN 9783540746348 (2008), doi:10.1007/978-3-540-74636-2.

- [30] A. P. Balachandran, T. R. Govindarajan, A. R. de Queiroz and A. F. Reyes-Lega, Algebraic approach to entanglement and entropy, Phys. Rev. A 88, 022301 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.88.022301.
- [31] A. P. Balachandran, T. R. Govindarajan, A. R. de Queiroz and A. F. Reyes-Lega, *Entan-glement and particle identity: A unifying approach*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**, 080503 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.080503.
- [32] R. D. Sorkin, On the entropy of the vacuum outside a horizon, in General relativity and gravitation, Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands, ISBN 9789400964716 (1984), doi:10.1007/978-94-009-6469-3.
- [33] M. Srednicki, *Entropy and area*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **71**, 666 (1993), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.666.
- [34] C. Holzhey, F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 424, 443 (1994), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(94)90402-2.
- [35] S. Hollands and K. Sanders, Entanglement measures and their properties in quantum field theory, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783319949017 (2018), doi:10.1007/978-3-319-94902-4.
- [36] E. Witten, On entanglement properties of quantum field theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. **90**, 045003 (2018), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.90.045003.
- [37] H. Casini and M. Huerta, Lectures on entanglement in quantum field theory, Proc. Sci. 403, 002 (2022), doi:10.22323/1.403.0002.
- [38] E. Bianchi and A. Satz, Entropy of a subalgebra of observables and the geometric entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. D 99, 085001 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.085001.
- [39] I. Agullo, B. Bonga, P. Ribes-Metidieri, D. Kranas and S. Nadal-Gisbert, How ubiquitous is entanglement in quantum field theory?, Phys. Rev. D 108, 085005 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.108.085005.
- [40] W. Donnelly, Decomposition of entanglement entropy in lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 85, 085004 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.85.085004.
- [41] H. Casini, M. Huerta and J. A. Rosabal, *Remarks on entanglement entropy for gauge fields*, Phys. Rev. D 89, 085012 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.89.085012.
- [42] X. Huang and C.-T. Ma, Analysis of the entanglement with centers, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 053101 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab7c63.
- [43] J. Lin and D. Radičević, Comments on defining entanglement entropy, Nucl. Phys. B 958, 115118 (2020), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2020.115118.
- [44] C. Rovelli and F. Vidotto, *Covariant loop quantum gravity*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9781107069626 (2014), doi:10.1017/CBO9781107706910.
- [45] A. Ashtekar and E. Bianchi, A short review of loop quantum gravity, Rep. Prog. Phys. 84, 042001 (2021), doi:10.1088/1361-6633/abed91.
- [46] E. Bianchi and E. R. Livine, Loop quantum gravity and quantum information, in Handbook of quantum gravity, Springer, Singapore, ISBN 9789811930799 (2023), doi:10.1007/978-981-19-3079-9_108-1.

- [47] S. D. Bartlett and H. M. Wiseman, Entanglement constrained by superselection rules, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 097903 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.097903.
- [48] S. D. Bartlett, T. Rudolph and R. W. Spekkens, *Reference frames, superselection rules, and quantum information*, Rev. Mod. Phys. **79**, 555 (2007), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.79.555.
- [49] H. Barghathi, C. M. Herdman and A. Del Maestro, *Rényi generalization of the accessible entanglement entropy*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 150501 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.150501.
- [50] H. Barghathi, E. Casiano-Diaz and A. Del Maestro, Operationally accessible entanglement of one-dimensional spinless fermions, Phys. Rev. A 100, 022324 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.100.022324.
- [51] C. de Groot, D. T. Stephen, A. Molnar and N. Schuch, *Inaccessible entanglement in symmetry protected topological phases*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 53, 335302 (2020), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ab98c7.
- [52] K. Monkman and J. Sirker, Operational entanglement of symmetry-protected topological edge states, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 043191 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.043191.
- [53] H. Casini, M. Huerta, J. M. Magán and D. Pontello, Entanglement entropy and superselection sectors. Part I. Global symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 014 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2020)014.
- [54] M. T. Tan and S. Ryu, Particle number fluctuations, Rényi entropy, and symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in a two-dimensional Fermi gas from multidimensional bosonization, Phys. Rev. B 101, 235169 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.235169.
- [55] R. Bonsignori, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in free fermionic systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 52, 475302 (2019), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ab4b77.
- [56] S. Murciano, G. Di Giulio and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in gapped integrable systems: A corner transfer matrix approach, SciPost Phys. 8, 046 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.3.046.
- [57] D. Azses and E. Sela, Symmetry-resolved entanglement in symmetry-protected topological phases, Phys. Rev. B 102, 235157 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.235157.
- [58] S. Murciano, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved entanglement in twodimensional systems via dimensional reduction, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 083102 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aba1e5.
- [59] B. Estienne, Y. Ikhlef and A. Morin-Duchesne, *Finite-size corrections in critical symmetry-resolved entanglement*, SciPost Phys. **10**, 054 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.3.054.
- [60] S. Murciano, R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Symmetry decomposition of negativity of massless free fermions, SciPost Phys. 10, 111 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.5.111.
- [61] B. Oblak, N. Regnault and B. Estienne, Equipartition of entanglement in quantum Hall states, Phys. Rev. B 105, 115131 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.105.115131.

- [62] A. Neven et al., Symmetry-resolved entanglement detection using partial transpose moments, npj Quantum Inf. 7, 152 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41534-021-00487-y.
- [63] V. Vitale et al., *Symmetry-resolved dynamical purification in synthetic quantum matter*, SciPost Phys. **12**, 106 (2022), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.3.106.
- [64] F. Ares, S. Murciano and P. Calabrese, *Entanglement asymmetry as a probe of symmetry breaking*, Nat. Commun. **14**, 2036 (2023), doi:10.1038/s41467-023-37747-8.
- [65] N. G. Jones, Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in critical free-fermion chains, J. Stat. Phys. 188, 28 (2022), doi:10.1007/s10955-022-02941-3.
- [66] L. Piroli, E. Vernier, M. Collura and P. Calabrese, *Thermodynamic symmetry resolved en*tanglement entropies in integrable systems, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 073102 (2022), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac7a2d.
- [67] S. Scopa and D. X. Horváth, Exact hydrodynamic description of symmetry-resolved Rényi entropies after a quantum quench, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 083104 (2022), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac85eb.
- [68] G. Parez, Symmetry-resolved Rényi fidelities and quantum phase transitions, Phys. Rev. B 106, 235101 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.106.235101.
- [69] A. Rath, V. Vitale, S. Murciano, M. Votto, J. Dubail, R. Kueng, C. Branciard, P. Calabrese and B. Vermersch, *Entanglement barrier and its symmetry resolution: Theory and experimental observation*, PRX Quantum 4, 010318 (2023), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.4.010318.
- [70] N. Feldman, J. Knaute, E. Zohar and M. Goldstein, Superselection-resolved entanglement in lattice gauge theories: A tensor network approach, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 83 (2024), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2024)083.
- [71] A. Belin, L.-Y. Hung, A. Maloney, S. Matsuura, R. C. Myers and T. Sierens, *Holographic charged Rényi entropies*, J. High Energy Phys. **12**, 059 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2013)059.
- [72] P. Caputa, G. Mandal and R. Sinha, Dynamical entanglement entropy with angular momentum and U(1) charge, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 052 (2013), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2013)052.
- [73] N. Feldman and M. Goldstein, *Dynamics of charge-resolved entanglement after a local quench*, Phys. Rev. B **100**, 235146 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.235146.
- [74] S. Fraenkel and M. Goldstein, Symmetry resolved entanglement: Exact results in 1D and beyond, J. Stat. Mech.: Theory Exp. 033106 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab7753.
- [75] S. Zhao, C. Northe and R. Meyer, Symmetry-resolved entanglement in AdS₃/CFT₂ coupled to U(1) Chern-Simons theory, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 030 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2021)030.
- [76] H.-H. Chen, Symmetry decomposition of relative entropies in conformal field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 084 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2021)084.
- [77] D. X. Horváth, L. Capizzi and P. Calabrese, U(1) symmetry resolved entanglement in free 1+1 dimensional field theories via form factor bootstrap, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 197 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2021)197.

- [78] H. Gaur and U. A. Yajnik, Symmetry resolved entanglement entropy in hyperbolic de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 107, 125008 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.107.125008.
- [79] M. Ghasemi, Universal thermal corrections to symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy and full counting statistics, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 209 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2023)209.
- [80] L. Capizzi, O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, C. De Fazio, M. Mazzoni and L. Santamaría-Sanz, Symmetry resolved entanglement of excited states in quantum field theory. Part I. Free theories, twist fields and qubits, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 127 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2022)127.
- [81] L. Capizzi, C. De Fazio, M. Mazzoni, L. Santamaría-Sanz and O. A. Castro-Alvaredo, Symmetry resolved entanglement of excited states in quantum field theory. Part II. Numerics, interacting theories and higher dimensions, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 128 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2022)128.
- [82] H. Gaur and U. A. Yajnik, Multi-charged moments and symmetry-resolved Rényi entropy of free compact boson for multiple disjoint intervals, J. High Energy Phys. 01, 042 (2024), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2024)042.
- [83] G. Di Giulio and J. Erdmenger, Symmetry-resolved modular correlation functions in free fermionic theories, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 058 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2023)058.
- [84] O. A. Castro-Alvaredo and L. Santamaría-Sanz, Symmetry resolved measures in quantum field theory: A short review, Mod. Phys. Lett. B (2024), doi:10.1142/S0217984924300023.
- [85] P. Calabrese, J. Dubail and S. Murciano, Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy in Wess-Zumino-Witten models, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 067 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2021)067.
- [86] A. Milekhin and A. Tajdini, Charge fluctuation entropy of Hawking radiation: A replica-free way to find large entropy, SciPost Phys. 14, 172 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.14.6.172.
- [87] Y. Kusuki, S. Murciano, H. Ooguri and S. Pal, Symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy, spectra & boundary conformal field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 216 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2023)216.
- [88] C. Northe, *Entanglement resolution with respect to conformal symmetry*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **131**, 151601 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.131.151601.
- [89] N. Yunger Halpern, P. Faist, J. Oppenheim and A. Winter, *Microcanonical and resource-theoretic derivations of the thermal state of a quantum system with noncommuting charges*, Nat. Commun. 7, 12051 (2016), doi:10.1038/ncomms12051.
- [90] N. Yunger Halpern, M. E. Beverland and A. Kalev, *Noncommuting conserved charges in quantum many-body thermalization*, Phys. Rev. E **101**, 042117 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.101.042117.
- [91] S. Majidy, W. F. Braasch, A. Lasek, T. Upadhyaya, A. Kalev and N. Yunger Halpern, Noncommuting conserved charges in quantum thermodynamics and beyond, Nat. Rev. Phys. 5, 689 (2023), doi:10.1038/s42254-023-00641-9.

- [92] J. M. Deutsch, Quantum statistical mechanics in a closed system, Phys. Rev. A 43, 2046 (1991), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.43.2046.
- [93] M. Srednicki, *Chaos and quantum thermalization*, Phys. Rev. E **50**, 888 (1994), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.50.888.
- [94] M. Rigol, V. Dunjko and M. Olshanii, *Thermalization and its mechanism for generic isolated quantum systems*, Nature **452**, 854 (2008), doi:10.1038/nature06838.
- [95] N. O'Dea, F. Burnell, A. Chandran and V. Khemani, From tunnels to towers: Quantum scars from Lie algebras and q-deformed Lie algebras, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 043305 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.043305.
- [96] S. Moudgalya, B. A. Bernevig and N. Regnault, Quantum many-body scars and Hilbert space fragmentation: A review of exact results, Rep. Prog. Phys. 85, 086501 (2022), doi:10.1088/1361-6633/ac73a0.
- [97] V. Moretti, *Fundamental mathematical structures of quantum theory*, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783030183455 (2019), doi:10.1007/978-3-030-18346-2.
- [98] J. Sorce, Notes on the type classification of von Neumann algebras, Rev. Math. Phys. 36, 2430002 (2023), doi:10.1142/S0129055X24300024.
- [99] S. Langenscheidt, D. Oriti and E. Colafranceschi, *Channel-state duality with centers*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2404.16004.
- [100] S. Moudgalya and O. I. Motrunich, *Hilbert space fragmentation and commutant algebras*, Phys. Rev. X **12**, 011050 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.12.011050.
- [101] S. Moudgalya and O. I. Motrunich, *Numerical methods for detecting symmetries and commutant algebras*, Phys. Rev. B **107**, 224312 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.107.224312.
- [102] H. Georgi, Lie algebras in particle physics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, ISBN 9780429499210 (2018), doi:10.1201/9780429499210.
- [103] J. Fuchs and C. Schweigert, Symmetries, Lie algebras and representations: A graduate course for physicists, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780521541190 (2003).
- [104] G. Racah, *Group theory and spectroscopy*, CERN, Geneva, Switzerland (1961), doi:10.5170/CERN-1961-008.
- [105] A. M. Perelomov and V. S. Popov, Casimir operators for semisimple Lie group, Math. USSR Izv. 2, 1313 (1968), doi:10.1070/IM1968v002n06ABEH000731.
- [106] E. Bianchi, P. Doná and S. Speziale, *Polyhedra in loop quantum gravity*, Phys. Rev. D 83, 044035 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.044035.
- [107] E. Bianchi and H. M. Haggard, Discreteness of the volume of space from Bohr-Sommerfeld quantization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 011301 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.011301.
- [108] L. Amico, R. Fazio, A. Osterloh and V. Vedral, *Entanglement in many-body systems*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 517 (2008), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.80.517.
- [109] C. Murthy and M. Srednicki, Structure of chaotic eigenstates and their entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. E 100, 022131 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.100.022131.

- [110] E. Bianchi, T. De Lorenzo and M. Smerlak, Entanglement entropy production in gravitational collapse: Covariant regularization and solvable models, J. High Energy Phys. 06, 180 (2015), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2015)180.
- [111] E. Bianchi, M. Christodoulou, F. D'Ambrosio, H. M. Haggard and C. Rovelli, White holes as remnants: A surprising scenario for the end of a black hole, Class. Quantum Gravity 35, 225003 (2018), doi:10.1088/1361-6382/aae550.
- [112] R. Bousso and M. Miyaji, Fluctuations in the entropy of Hawking radiation, Phys. Rev. D 109, 026006 (2024), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.109.026006.
- [113] G. Refael and J. E. Moore, Criticality and entanglement in random quantum systems, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 504010 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/50/504010.
- [114] F. Giacomini, E. Castro-Ruiz and Č. Brukner, Quantum mechanics and the covariance of physical laws in quantum reference frames, Nat. Commun. 10, 494 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41467-018-08155-0.
- [115] A. Vanrietvelde, P. A. Hoehn, F. Giacomini and E. Castro-Ruiz, A change of perspective: Switching quantum reference frames via a perspective-neutral framework, Quantum 4, 225 (2020), doi:10.22331/q-2020-01-27-225.
- [116] A.-C. de la Hamette, S. L. Ludescher and M. P. Müller, Entanglement-asymmetry correspondence for internal quantum reference frames, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 260404 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.129.260404.
- [117] A.-C. de la Hamette, T. D. Galley, P. A. Hoehn, L. Loveridge and M. P. Mueller, *Perspective-neutral approach to quantum frame covariance for general symmetry groups*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2110.13824.
- [118] E. Castro-Ruiz and O. Oreshkov, *Relative subsystems and quantum reference frame transformations*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2110.13199.
- [119] P. A. Hoehn, I. Kotecha and F. M. Mele, *Quantum frame relativity of subsystems, correlations and thermodynamics*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2308.09131.
- [120] L. Ebner, A. Schäfer, C. Seidl, B. Müller and X. Yao, Entanglement entropy of (2 + 1)dimensional SU(2) lattice gauge theory on plaquette chains, Phys. Rev. D 110, 014505 (2024), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.110.014505.
- [121] E. Bianchi, L. Hackl and N. Yokomizo, Entanglement entropy of squeezed vacua on a lattice, Phys. Rev. D 92, 085045 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.085045.
- [122] B. Baytaş, E. Bianchi and N. Yokomizo, *Gluing polyhedra with entanglement in loop quan*tum gravity, Phys. Rev. D 98, 026001 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.026001.
- [123] E. Bianchi, P. Donà and I. Vilensky, Entanglement entropy of Bell-network states in loop quantum gravity: Analytical and numerical results, Phys. Rev. D 99, 086013 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.086013.
- [124] A. Ashtekar, Asymptotic quantization: Based on 1984 Naples lectures, Bibliopolis, Derry, USA, ISBN 9788870881431 (1987).
- [125] A. Erdélyi, Asymptotic expansions, Dover Publications, Mineola, USA, ISBN 9780486603186 (1956).